Public Health Recommendations for the Control of Arboviral Diseases in the Caribbean

by

Monica Kathleen Nelson

BS, Colorado State University, 2009

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Department Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

University of Pittsburgh

2020

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This essay is submitted

by

Monica Kathleen Nelson

on

June 19, 2020

and approved by

Essay Advisor: Lawrence A Kingsley, DrPH, Professor, Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, Professor, Epidemiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Essay Reader: Joanne Russell, MPPM, Assistant Professor, Behavioral and Community Health Sciences, Director, Center for Global Health, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Monica Kathleen Nelson

2020

Public Health Recommendations for Control of Arboviral Diseases in the Caribbean

Monica Kathleen Nelson, MPH

University of Pittsburgh, 2020

Abstract

Mosquito-borne viral (arboviral) infections, such as dengue, chikungunya, and Zika, are of significant public health importance in the Caribbean. These viruses cause significant morbidity in affected communities. Further, arboviral outbreaks can affect economies due to their prevalence in the tourist-based economic Caribbean. Currently, these viruses do not have therapeutic treatments or licensed vaccines to prevent infection. As such, the best prevention measures involve an aspect of integrated vector management, community participation in source reduction of mosquito breeding sites and individuals following measures for protection from biting mosquitoes.

Mosquito Awareness Week, a yearly program supported by the Pan American Health Organization, aims to build community capacity by supporting participating countries in providing their communities with education in mosquito control and arboviral diseases prevention methods. Building off of the reported activities by participating countries, this paper gives public health recommendations for future Mosquito Awareness Week programs as well as general recommendations for mosquito control and arboviral diseases prevention in the Caribbean. Included in the recommendations are to improve surveillance systems, ensure the incorporation of the community in source reduction activities so as to build capacity, developing methods for assessing retention of educational materials, strengthening the healthcare system, and ensuring transparent communication.

Table of Contents

Prefacex
List of Acronymsxi
1.0 Background and Early Mosquito Eradication Efforts1
1.1 Dengue Virus (DENV)4
1.2 Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)7
1.3 Zika virus (ZIKV)9
1.4 Vaccines12
1.4.1 Dengue vaccines14
1.4.2 Chikungunya vaccines17
1.4.3 Zika vaccines18
1.5 Commonalities of Arboviral Diseases20
1.5.1 Arboviral Diseases' Impact on Populations22
1.6 Information on <i>Aedes</i> mosquitoes23
2.0 Epidemiology26
3.0 PAHO and WHO's Strategies for Prevention and Control of Arboviruses
3.1 Mosquito Awareness Week38
4.0 Methodology41
5.0 Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Evaluation and Evidence
6.0 Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Discussion55
6.1 Public Health Recommendations60
Appendix A 2019 Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week Media Mentions70

bliography71

List of Tables

Table 1 List	of activities	performed	by ECC	participating in	2019's	Caribbean	Mosquito
Awareness	s Week			••••••	•••••		42

List of Figures

Figure 1 Map of the Caribbean. Islands labeled in red indicate independent island countries.
Figure 2 The number of all dengue cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French
Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the years
reported, 2014 - 2019
Figure 3 The number of all dengue cases and severe dengue cases in Barbados and ECC
excluding the French Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and
Martinique) for the countries reporting and for the years reported, 2014 - 201931
Figure 4 The number of chikungunya cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French
Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the years
reported, 2014 - 201932
Figure 5 The number of Zika cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French Department
of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the years reported,
2015 - 2019

Preface

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to Joanne Russell, the Director for the Center for Global Health and Assistant Dean of the Global Health Programs at the University of Pittsburgh, for all her dedication to my success and for her assistance throughout the practicum planning process as well as connecting me to Marcello Korc.

Additional thanks to Marcello Korc, the Unit Chief for the Climate Change and Environmental Determinants of Health section at the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) for taking the time to meet with me on short notice and for acknowledging my interests within global health and connecting me to my practicum site at PAHO regional office in Barbados, West Indies. I would also like to thank Dr. Karen Polson-Edwards, an Advisor for the Climate Change and Environmental Determinants of Health section at PAHO, who served as my preceptor during my practicum June through July, 2019. My work at PAHO served as inspiration for this essay.

Additional thanks to the University of Pittsburgh Center for Global Health and the Cutler Family Fund for Ethical Global Health Research and Education for funding my practicum experience.

List of Acronyms

- ADE ... Antibody-dependent enhancement
- BVI ... British Virgin Islands
- CARPHA ... Caribbean Public Health Agency
- CARICOM ... Caribbean Community
- CDC ... Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CHIKV ... Chikungunya virus
- DENV ... Dengue virus
- E ... Envelope protein
- ECC ... Eastern Caribbean countries
- EHO ... Environmental Health Officers
- ELISA... Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- FD ... French Department of the Americas
- FDA ... Food and Drug Administration
- GBS ... Guillain-Barré syndrome
- GDP ... Gross Domestic Product
- GIS ... Geographic Information System
- GM ... Genetically modified
- IVM ... Integrated vector management
- KAP ... Knowledge, attitudes, and practices
- MAW ... Mosquito Awareness Week
- MoH ... Ministry of Health

- NGO ... Non-governmental organization
- NIAID ... National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
- NIH ... National Institutes of Health
- NSAIDS ... non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
- NS-1 ... Non-structural protein
- PAHO ... Pan American Health Organization / World Health Organization
- PCR ... Polymerase chain reaction
- PLISA ... PAHO's Health Information Platform for the Americas
- PrM ... Pre-membrane protein
- PRNT ... Plaque reduction neutralization test
- rRT-PCR ... Reverse real-time polymerase chain reaction
- U.S. ... United States of America
- VC ... Vector Control
- VCO ... Vector Control Officers
- WHO ... World Health Organization
- WRAID ... Walter Reed Army Institute of Research
- YFV...Yellow Fever virus
- ZIKV ... Zika virus

1.0 Background and Early Mosquito Eradication Efforts

Mosquito-borne diseases, such as dengue, chikungunya, Zika, yellow fever, and malaria are all of public health importance to the Americas region. The early 20th century malaria and *Aedes aegypti* eradication programs primarily used larval and adult insecticides, as well as quarantining active cases and surveillance of ports, led to the eradication of malaria and yellow fever in 1962-1964 in the Caribbean and through most of the Americas region. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Klitting, et al., 2018; Webb, 2016) Due to the successful elimination of the malaria parasite and the Yellow Fever virus (YFV), these are less of a concern in the Caribbean, except for Hispaniola island, where malaria is still endemic and Haiti still has a poor surveillance system. Although, there are instances of imported malaria cases into the non-endemic Caribbean, which is a concern due to the already present mosquito vector. (PAHO, 2016c, 2017) For example, Jamaica had a malaria outbreak in 2006-2009, the first since 1966, that started from imported cases from Haitian refugees. (PAHO, 2016c; WHO, 2017) This highlights the need for robust and vigilant surveillance systems.

Starting in the 1960's, gains from the successful vector eradication campaigns throughout most of the Americas in the early to mid 20th century were quickly lost despite continued efforts and commitment from the Pan American Health Organization / World Health Organization (PAHO). As countries deemed eradication programs successful, there was a lack of continued political will along with the decline in surveillance systems which could not detect small re-infestations. This led to a slow response to re-infestations. Furthermore, rapidly growing urban spaces with a lack of proper and sufficient environmental sanitation and then the evermore common domestic and international travel facilitated mosquito re-introduction and spread.

Additionally, mosquito resistance to insecticides used in the early 20th century, insufficient community participation, and the high cost of materials for eradication and thus less government participation to join in with other country's programs further lead to the decline in early eradication program effectiveness. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012)

Regarding yellow fever, there is an effective and safe vaccine that has been available since 1951. (Klitting, et al., 2018) Further, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends a yellow fever vaccination coverage of at least 80% to prevent large outbreaks. (WHO, 2019b) Yellow fever vaccination rates in Trinidad and Tobago has ranged from 85-96% from 2011-2018. No other Caribbean country reported yellow fever vaccination rates. (WHO, 2019d) Trinidad and Tobago are the closest islands to mainland South America where Brazil has had a YFV outbreak as recently as 2016. Additionally, many of the countries bordering the Caribbean as well as the Caribbean island states require yellow fever vaccinations for travelers from endemic areas. (CDC, 2019a; Klitting, et al., 2018) The U.S.'s Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), does not recommend a yellow fever vaccination for American travelers to most of the Caribbean region due to the low transmission risk. (CDC, 2018)

Importantly, many Caribbean countries have the mosquito vector for transmitting both malaria and yellow fever along with non-human primates susceptible to YFV and thus a concern for re-introduction. (Klitting, et al., 2018) Moreover, with climate change facilitating expanding locations for already present mosquito vectors, population migration (due to numerous reasons) from endemic areas, unplanned urban growth, and water and sanitation problems, all contributes to the concern for malaria and yellow fever reintroduction and further highlights the need for strong and continued surveillance and proper YFV vaccination coverage. (Paupy, et al., 2009; WHO, 2017) Along with vector control (VC) methods, prevention methods such as malaria

chemoprophylaxis and a safe and effective yellow fever vaccine continue to help protect those in the Caribbean. Conversely, there currently are no specific treatments (just supportive treatment of symptoms) or medically preventable methods such as vaccines available for dengue, chikungunya, or Zika and these arthropod-borne viruses (arboviral diseases) are of significant importance to the Caribbean due to their high levels of morbidity. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Paupy, et al., 2009; Webb, 2016)



Figure 1 Map of the Caribbean. Islands labeled in red indicate independent island countries.

Source: WorldAtlas

1.1 Dengue Virus (DENV)

Based on clinical and epidemiological descriptions, dengue has been suspected in the Americas and specifically the Caribbean (Martinique and Guadeloupe) since 1635, brought by the slave trade from Africa. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Simmons, et al., 2012). Dengue typically has an endemo-epidemic pattern of outbreaks occurring every 3-5 years that has eventually led to an endemic status since the 1990s in the Caribbean. Microbiological (and then serological) verification of outbreaks did not occur until 1943. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012) There are four distinct serotypes of the dengue virus, DENV-1, DENV-2, DENV-3, and DENV-4 and multiple serotypes can circulate in a country and during an outbreak. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Clapham, et al., 2017; Guzman, et al., 2010) The four serotypes share about 65% of their genome, yet they cause nearly identical symptomology and similar ecological niches. (Guzman, et al., 2010) By the mid-20th century only DENV-2 was circulating in the Americas. With every decade another serotype was identified as circulating starting with DENV-3, then DENV-1, and lastly DENV-4 by 1981. Additionally, with every decade there was also a noticeable increase in the number of cases (about 1 million in the 1980s to 4.7 million in the 2000s) and an increase in the number of countries affected indicating the resurgence and spread of Aedes mosquitoes. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012)

In the Americas, humans are the reservoir for the dengue virus, a Flavivirus, which is spread by the vector Aedes aegypti and less frequently by the Aedes albopictus mosquito. (Paupy, et al., 2009, 2010; Simmons, et al., 2012) These mosquitoes also spread chikungunya, Zika, and yellow fever, of which everyone is at risk of varying degree dependent on the region's rainfall, temperature, and environmental sanitation. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Tjaden, et al., 2013; Webb, 2016; WHO, 2019a)

Severe dengue was first recognized in the 1950s and remains the leading cause of hospitalization and death among children and adults in Latin America. (WHO, 2019a) For travelers returning from low- and middle-income countries, malaria followed by dengue are the most diagnosed causes for a fever. (WHO, 2019a) After recovering from an infection, there is longlived immunity to that serotype but not great protectivity to the other serotypes, thus subsequent dengue infections can increase the risk of severe dengue. (Calisher, et al., 1989; Simmons, et al., 2012) This temporary cross-protection led to the endemo-epidemic pattern. (Clapham, et al., 2017) Also, as maternal antibodies can be transferred through the placenta and in breast milk, leading to temporary cross-protection in infants. At about 6-12 months of age when the maternal antibodies wane in the infant, there is a risk for severe dengue. (Arragain, et al., 2017; Basurko, et al., 2018) Severe dengue is thought to be caused by antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE). This is due to non-neutralizing antibodies from a previous infection, or for infants the lower concentration of maternal antibodies during the infection, facilitating uptake of the virus. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Weaver, et al., 2018) Additionally, the severity of subsequent infections in adults increases from month-to-month during outbreaks on islands and/or with a longer interval between infections. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Simmons, et al., 2012)

It is estimated that the majority (about 75%) of illnesses are asymptomatic and as such, there is probably underreporting and misclassification occurring. (Clapham, et al., 2017; Simmons, et al., 2012; Duong, et al., 2015) Further, this leads to silent virus transmission to mosquitoes and thus more widespread disease transmission due to asymptomatic individuals being able to keep to daily routines compared to symptomatic individuals staying more localized at home or in the hospital. (Duong, et al., 2015; Nguyet, et al., 2013) Also, the silent viral transmission and

asymptomatic infections can contribute to persistent circulation. Moreover, with insufficient surveillance systems there is the possibility of delayed detection of outbreaks. (Duong, et al., 2015)

With an incubation period of 3-10 days after a bite from an infected mosquito, an estimated 25% of dengue infected people will have symptoms for 2-7 days ranging from a mild to highgrade, febrile illness (40°C/104°F) with joint pain and/or severe headache to severe and life threatening illness. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Simmons, et al., 2012; Waggoner, et al., 2016; Weaver, et al., 2018) An estimated 5% of cases become severe dengue, a hemorrhagic shock which can lead to death, and requires proper and prompt medical intervention for 24-48 hours which can reduce the number of deaths due to severe dengue from more than 10% to less than 1%. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Simmons, et al., 2012) Severe dengue is mainly reported in children and young adults due to ADE. (Weaver, et al., 2018) To accomplish the reduction in severe dengue deaths, proper case management is necessary and can be obtained through country level capacity building. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Weaver, et al., 2018) Further, due to the risk of progressing to severe dengue, it is recommended to not take non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs, i.e., aspirin and ibuprofen) as they can worsen hemorrhaging. (Simon, et al., 2015) Specific to pregnant women, being viremic during pregnancy, more so during late pregnancy and intrapartum, can cause maternal-fetal transmission. (Arragain, et al., 2017; Basurko, et al., 2018) Additionally, the virus is transmitted through breast milk and through the placenta. (Arragain, et al., 2017; Basurko, et al., 2018) Further, neonates can have the same severe symptoms seen in children and adults around one week of life for perinatal infected infants. (Arragain, et al., 2017; Basurko, et al., 2018)

1.2 Chikungunya virus (CHIKV)

Based on clinical symptoms described, it is believed that a "dengue" outbreak in 1827 on St. Thomas island in the US Virgin Islands, which then spread to the rest of the Caribbean and parts of the United States of America (U.S.) and Mexico, was actually the true introduction of Chikungunya virus to the Americas. Like for dengue, it is believed CHIKV was brought to the Americas via the African slave trade. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Yactayo, et al., 2016) As the 1827 outbreak cannot be proven microbiologically or serologically, what is considered the first documented autochthonous case of chikungunya in the Americas occurred on the French side of the Caribbean island, St. Martin in December 2013. (PAHO, n.d. e; Yactayo, et al., 2016) At that time, St. Martin had a concomitant dengue outbreak and many chikungunya cases were mislabeled as dengue as they have similar symptoms. (Yactayo, et al., 2016) Once introduced in St. Martin, chikungunya quickly spread throughout the Caribbean. (PAHO, 2016d) As of now, there are no nonhuman primate reservoir in the Americas, only in Africa. (ECDC, n.d.; Weaver, et al., 2018) As the reemergence of chikungunya in the Americas is so recent, there is a need to determine if there are any nonhuman primates and other vertebrates in the Americas that are susceptible and/or can become a reservoir. (Weaver, et al., 2018; Yactayo, et al., 2016) If so, Aedes albopictus mosquitoes, which are known to transmit the virus can lead to sylvatic and not just urban transmission such as with YFV. (CDC, 2018; Weaver, et al., 2016)

Chikungunya virus is an *Alphavirus* spread by the vectors *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes. (Paupy, et al., 2009, 2010; Powers, 2017) CHIKV can also be spread via accidental exposure to viremic blood and vertical transmission through intrapartum. (Simon, et al., 2015) About 3% - 28% of cases are asymptomatic and as such there could be underreporting occurring. (Simon, et al., 2015; Weaver, et al., 2018) Those that do have symptomatic illness,

typically after a 3-7 day incubation period after being bitten by an infected mosquito, develop a sudden high fever (over 39 °C/102 °F) and severe joint pain, followed by a rash over the majority of the body. These symptoms can last 7-10 days. (Mehta, et al., 2018; Simon, et al., 2015; Waggoner, et al., 2016; Yactayo, et al., 2016) Symptoms of non-severe DENV infections are similar to those of chikungunya although the joint pain is more intense and more localized to the joints in CHIKV infections. (Weaver, et al., 2018; PAHO, n.d. e) Therefore differential diagnosis is critical, as NSAIDs can help alleviate the joint pains from CHIKV but are contraindicated if DENV is suspected. (Simon, et al., 2015) Additionally, the arthritis can last for months or years and is more apparent in patients over 35 years. (Weaver, et al., 2018) More serious complications such as ocular disease, hepatitis, Guillain-Barré syndrome, and myocarditis are rare and if they occur, it is typically seen more in the higher risk populations such as those over 65 years of age, neonates exposed intrapartum, and those with chronic diseases such as diabetes, heart disease or hypertension. (Simon, et al., 2015; Tomashek, et al., 2017; Weaver, et al., 2018; Yactayo, et al., 2016)

Guillain- Barré syndrome (GBS) is an autoimmune polyradiculoneuropathy that is triggered 2-8 weeks after an infection. GBS is characterized by progressive weakness in the extremities, motor dysfunction, paralysis, reduced or absent tendon reflexes, and possibly cranial nerve disorders. (Weaver, et al., 2016, 2018; Yuki, et al., 2012) Fatality to CHIKV infections is also rare (0-4%) and when it occurs it typically is older adults who are at higher risk. (Weaver, et al., 2018) Unique to chikungunya infections, is about 5% - 80% of patients will have a relapse of rheumatologic symptoms about 20 months after initial symptoms subsist and can last for months or years. (Yactayo, et al., 2016)

Interestingly, CHIKV is not neurotropic, but it does infect the meninges and can be found in the cerebrospinal fluid. (Weaver, et al., 2018) Specific to pregnant women, the virus does not cross the placenta and the highest risk of maternal-fetal transmission (about 50%) is being viremic during intrapartum which may cause neonatal complications such as myocardial disease, hemorrhaging, acute respiratory failure, and neurological disease, but studies have not found CHIKV in breast milk. (Simon, et al., 2015; Weaver, et al., 2018) Of note, there have been a rare number of reports of spontaneous abortions following maternal CHIKV infections. (Simon, et al., 2015; Weaver, et al., 2018; ECDC, n.d.) Once a person recovers from the acute phase they will have life-long immunity to chikungunya. (ECDC, n.d.)

1.3 Zika virus (ZIKV)

In the Americas region, there was no evidence of Zika prior to 2014. (Weaver, et al., 2016) In late 2014, clusters of cases of fever, rash, headache, and muscle and joint pain were noticed in Northeastern Brazil which rapidly spread to the entire country by late 2015. (Weaver, et al., 2016) The first Caribbean Zika autochthonous case was in Martinique in December of 2015 which then spread to other Caribbean countries throughout 2016. (PAHO, 2016b, 2018a) In late 2015, months after the outbreak began in Brazil, a higher than usual number of microcephaly in infants in Brazil and in French Polynesia lead to the WHO's declaration of Public Health Emergency of International Concern in early 2016. (Weaver, et al., 2016; PAHO, 2016b) Also in early 2016, the United States of America reported the first confirmed case of sexually transmitted ZIKV. (PAHO, 2016b) Although, sexual transmission of ZIKV was first implicated in 2008 when scientists returning home from their research site in Senegal, known to be endemic for ZIKV, became sick and spread to his wife but not his children, thus ruling out direct contact as a transmission route. (Foy, et al., 2011)

An experimental study in 1952 showed ZIKV to be neurotropic in mice. (Kindhauser, et al., 2016) Yet the mild, self-limiting infections in Africa and Asia may be due to the endemic nature, where the infections and thus immunity occurs prior to child-bearing age. As such microcephaly and GBS are not seen or they have such a low incidence it's cause was unrecognized. (Weaver, et al., 2016) Additionally, ZIKV infections in Africa and Asia were rare and benign with no deaths, hospitalizations, hemorrhagic complications, or neurologic complications and seroprevalence studies determined widespread human exposure. (Kindhauser, et al., 2016) Conversely, in a naïve population, such as on Yap Island in 2007 and the Americas region in 2015, there is a lack of population immunity leading to more cases of microcephaly and GBS. (Kindhauser, et al., 2016; Weaver, et al., 2016)

Accurate Zika virus data in the Americas is not available from early in the outbreak as Zika was not a mandatory reported infection. Thus, much of the knowledge today regarding the association of microcephaly and GBS to ZIKV was determined with numerous retrospective studies. (PAHO, 2016b; de Oliveira, et al., 2017; Weaver, et al., 2016; WHO, 2018a) Additionally, the naïve monkeys in the Americas and the lack of monkeys on Yap Island indicates the start of those outbreaks are most likely due to mosquitoes. (Gregory, et al., 2017; Kindhauser, et al., 2016; Weaver, et al., 2016) Further, due to the enzootic nature of Zika in Africa, there is a need for strong surveillance as well as more research to determine if New World nonhuman primates can act as a reservoir. If so, *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes, which are known to transmit the virus can lead to sylvatic and not just urban transmission such as with YFV. (CDC, 2018; Weaver, et al., 2016)

Zika virus is a *Flavivirus* spread by *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes, as well as through perinatal, sexual, and transplacental transmission (breastfeeding has not been established as a source of transmission). (Gregory, et al., 2017; Foy, et al., 2011) About 50%-80% of all cases are asymptomatic and thus there may be underdiagnosis. Symptomatic cases are typically mild, self-limited illness such as fever, rash, conjunctivitis, and joint pain and thus it is easy for ZIKV to be misdiagnosed. (Grossi-Soyster, et al., 2017; Mehta, et al., 2018) Zika has an incubation period of 3-14 days and symptoms typically last 2-7 days. (Grossi-Soyster, et al., 2017; WHO, 2018b) The main concern with maternal ZIKV infections, regardless of if symptomatic or not, is microcephaly and other congenital malformations (congenital Zika syndrome[CZS]) in infants as well as the possibility of preterm birth, miscarriage, and intra-uterine growth restriction. (Krow-Lucal, et al., 2018; Weaver, et al., 2018; WHO, 2018b) CZS includes other malformations such as eye and vision abnormalities, hearing loss, learning disabilities, epilepsy, and cerebral palsy. There is greater fetal susceptibility to CZS for infections occurring in the first trimester. (Satterfield-Nash, et al., 2017; Weaver, et al., 2018; WHO, 2018a, 2018b) Microcephaly is a smaller head size than normal due to abnormal brain development or loss of brain tissue, which leads to varying child outcomes according to the extent of brain damage. (WHO, 2018b) Some infants with microcephaly develop normally and some infants without microcephaly develop congenital Zika syndrome. (WHO, 2018a) The risk of congenital malformations is estimated at 5 -30% of infants born to women with symptomatic and asymptomatic ZIKV infection during pregnancy compared to the normal rate of microcephaly being about one in a thousand infants. (Krow-Lucal, et al., 2018; Weaver, et al., 2018; WHO, 2018a, 2018b) Adults can also have longterm neural effects due to ZIKV infections, including learning and memory impairment. (Weaver, et al., 2018)

Another concern for adults and children is the development of GBS, neuropathy, and myelitis, although those with Zika-induced GBS typically fully recover. (Weaver, et al., 2016, 2018; WHO, 2018b) GBS can occur due to direct ZIKV infection thus having a short period of time between rash and GBS or GBS can occur due to autoimmune cross-reactive antibodies thus occurring later after the infection. (Weaver, et al., 2018) Currently, there is only supportive treatment, thus the importance of ruling out dengue before giving NSIADs for joint pain. (Simon, et al., 2015) For microcephalic infants, early intervention with stimulation may positively impact development and there is a need for family counseling and support. (WHO, 2018a) To conclusively determine if there is lifelong protective immunity, researchers will need to collect data from endemic countries. (Kindhauser, et al., 2016) Based on the lack of microcephaly and GBS seen in endemic areas, it is possible that once infected with Zika, there is protective immunity. (Weaver, et al., 2016)

1.4 Vaccines

Vaccines are currently being researched, developed, and tested in preclinical and clinical trials. Until there are safe and approved arboviral vaccines for use in the Caribbean, the current best prevention methods involve vector control (outlined below). (WHO, 2018b)

It is important to have clearly defined clinical endpoints for determining efficacy due to the concern for dengue and zika vaccines for the potential for ADE. There is not enough evidence to yet determine if antibody cross-reaction in *Flaviviruses* can cause ADE between dengue and Zika. (Barouch, et al., 2017; Dejnirattisai, et al., 2016) Specifically for Zika it will be important to determine efficacy and effectiveness based on CZS and GBS prevention as well as determining safe immunization scheduling for women who are or plan to be pregnant.

Recently, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) published results from a phase I trial using a mosquito saliva peptide-based vaccine. The premise was based on previous research indicating mosquito saliva has immune modulating proteins. (Pingen, et al., 2016; Vogt, et al., 2018) Eligible participants were inoculated with two doses and then later exposed to feeding by uninfected Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. The vaccine contained four synthetic salivary peptides from Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes. After the mosquito feeding, the site was evaluated for redness and swelling. There was some mild to moderate vaccine-related adverse events at the injection site and seem more in the adjuvant group than the non-adjuvant and control groups. One adjuvant participant developed an erythema after the first injection. After feeding, the mosquitoes were evaluated for any changes in the life span and progeny survival over the life span (eggs, larvae, pupae, and adults) of which there was no difference among vaccine groups. Outcomes were promising, the vaccine was considered safe and for the adjuvant group there was a significant increase in vaccine-specific antibodies, but all groups had the same antibody levels by the end of the study, about one year. The vaccine was proven to be tolerated and immunogenic when adjuvanted, thus a viable option for a vector-targeted vaccine. (Manning, et al., 2020) There is more research needed to understand the human immune response to mosquito saliva as well as if truly protective against each mosquito-borne pathogen. Additionally, there needs to be an evaluation of if the vaccines need to be specific to mosquito genus or if there is cross-protection. If successful in further clinical trials, this vaccine would eliminate the need for pathogen specific vaccines.

1.4.1 Dengue vaccines

In 2015, Sanofi Pasteur's recombinant tetravalent dengue vaccine with a yellow fever backbone (CYD-TDV), Dengvaxia, was licensed for use in a few endemic countries. Of which non are Caribbean countries, but the European and U.S. territories can use the vaccine due to licensing approval in the United States and in Europe. (FDA, 2019; Sanofi, 2017, 2019) This vaccine replaced the RNA for the pre-membrane (PrM) and envelope (E) protein from the yellow fever virus vaccine (YF17D) with the corresponding RNA from the four dengue serotypes. (Guy, et al., 2010) Data from the vaccine's clinical trials, phase III/IV, indicated those over nine years old had greater efficacy, with vaccine immunity lasting four years. (Guy, et al., 2017; Hadinegoro, et al., 2015) Yet an individual's age, serostatus, and serotype affected vaccine effectiveness and those in the placebo group had higher hospitalization rates three years post inoculation. (Guy, et al., 2017; Sridhar, et al., 2018) More clinical trials showed the vaccine was ineffective against the DENV-2 serotype with re-immunization more effective than first-time. (Capeding, et al., 2014; Hadinegoro, et al., 2015; Sabchareon, et al., 2012)

Due to this information, the WHO made safety recommendations for determining who should receive the vaccine via either pre-vaccination screening of individuals, the preferred method, or by using recent high resolution documentation of seroprevalence rates of over 80% by age 9 years old. This is to ensure those vaccinated have previously been exposed to dengue naturally in order to reduce the risk of developing severe dengue. Thus, the vaccine is safe and effective for those aged 9 to 45 years who live in dengue endemic areas and have a documented exposure to dengue. In higher dengue transmission countries the acceptable age for vaccination may be lowered and for lower dengue transmission countries the lower limit of acceptable age may be higher. (WHO, 2019e) Recently, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has

approved the vaccine of those aged 9 to 16 years, live in endemic areas, and have a laboratory confirmed previous dengue infection. (FDA, 2020)

Which method to use for Dengvaxia vaccine implementation involves evaluating the balance between population level benefits versus individual risk. To determine the optimal age range for each country involves knowing at what age is severe dengue incidence the highest by using routine hospital laboratory-confirmed surveillance data. Thus the great importance of strong surveillance systems and highly specific and sensitive biological tests, such as plaque reduction neutralization test (PRNT), IgG antibody detection, or other laboratory confirmed methods used for diagnosis and screening. Further, the vaccine should not be considered a tool for outbreak response. (Ariën, et al., 2018; CDC, 2017b; WHO, 2019a, 2019e) Even if vaccination becomes universally available, it will be important to continue with integrated vector management (IVM), described below. Additionally, regardless of vaccination status, those with dengue symptoms should seek medical care. Also, those vaccinated should be observed long-term to ensure the absence of developing severe dengue disease. (Guzman, et al., 2010)

A live, attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine candidate uses DENV-2 as the backbone, including the NS-1 or non-structural genome, and incorporates the PrM and E protein RNA from DENV-1, 3, and 4, also called TDV or DENVax. This vaccine, developed by Takeda, proved safe and efficacious in both phase I trials, testing doses and administration routes, although one participant had mild dengue-like symptoms. (Osorio, et al., 2014; George, et al., 2015) Phase II trials enrolled adults and children. There were no serious adverse events in both baseline seropositive and seronegative participants. (Sirivichayakul, et al., 2016) This vaccine is currently in phase III trials. There are other phase I and II trials occurring that are testing dosing regimen, including testing a booster dose. (Osorio, et al., 2015)

A monovalent vaccine rDENx $\Delta 30$, where x is the different serotypes, and its derivatives are either no longer being pursued or are used as a research tool to develop components to be used in a quadrivalent live, attenuated vaccine. This vaccine and its components, including TV003/TV005, were developed by NIAID. (WHO, n.d. c) The TV003/TV005 vaccine is a mixture of four attenuated recombinant derivatives from the rDENx $\Delta 30$ research vaccine. The TV003/TV005 vaccine had more resistance to DENV-2 than Dengvaxia and thus produced more balanced immune responses. Clinical trial participants reported a mild rash and there was protection from all serotypes. Yet, more participants produced protective antibodies to TV005, which contains more DENV-2 components, than TV003. (Kirkpatrick, et al., 2015, 2016)

Other dengue vaccine types include live attenuated, inactivated whole cell, recombinant subunit, and DNA candidates and are summarized by Deng, et al. (2020) but will be briefly mentioned here. Developed by WRAID, the tetravalent live, attenuated vaccines, PIV and LAV, used structural protein components. There was promising results in animal studies and there is now recruitment for phase I trials. (Deng, et al., 2020; Simmons, et al., 2010) The recombinant subunit vaccine, DEN1-80E, uses a recombinant truncated E protein. From phase I trials, the vaccine proved safe and efficacious, but without long-lived immunity. (Manoff, et al., 2015) Lastly, the DNA vaccine, developed by the US Naval Medical Research Center, started as a monovalent plasmid containing PrM and E proteins from DENV-1, but later became tetravalent by combining the remaining three serotypes' monovalent vaccines. In phase I trials, there was low levels of protective immunity developed and so further research is evaluating using an adjuvant. (Beckett, et al., 2010; Porter, et al., 2012)

1.4.2 Chikungunya vaccines

Chikungunya vaccine development has a long history starting in the 1960s. The early efforts involved inactivated African strains, yet they never progressed further than testing in mice and monkeys. (Kitaoka, 1967; Powers, 2017) The next vaccine developed was a live, attenuated vaccine candidate by Walter Reed Army Institute of Research (WRAID). It was tested in both monkeys and mice with promising results. (Harrison, et al., 1967) This vaccine completed phase I and II trials before funding as well as the unpredictable chikungunya epidemiology ended the vaccine trial in 1998. (McClain, et al., 1998, Edelman, et al., 2000; Hoke, et al., 2012) The phase I and II trial results were promising yet some participants experienced arthralgia, a concern given this is a common symptom of infection. (McClain, et al., 1998, Edelman, et al., 2000) The investigational new drug (IND) protocol for the live, attenuated vaccine was left open until 2011 for continued research result submissions. Interestingly, after the 2006 chikungunya outbreak in La Reunion, this vaccine was requested for additional research purposes by France's Ministry of Health. (Hoke, et al., 2012; Powers, 2017)

Other chikungunya vaccines were developed after the reemergence and expansion across the globe. One promising vaccine in development uses virus-like particles (VLP); these structurally look like the CHIKV but it does not contain nucleic acid, and so it is replication incompetent. Researchers started with a West African and Central/East African strain and discovered there was increased production West African VLP's from their cell culture. They justified continuing with this strain as there is high similarity of amino acids among CHIKV strains along with cross-reactive serology thus a vaccine using one strain would be cross protective. (Akahata, et al., 2010; Goo, et al., 2016; Powers, et al., 2000) The VLP vaccine was tested in mice and monkeys with promising results leading to phase I clinical trials and now phase II trials. (Akahata, et al., 2010; Chang, et al., 2014; Powers, 2017; Weaver, et al., 2018) The vaccine produced neutralizing antibodies without negative side effects, yet there was a waning of the antibody titer over time. (Chang, et al., 2014; Powers, 2017)

The other promising CHIKV vaccine is the recombinant, live attenuated measles vaccine with CHIKV structural protein genes which then produces a chikungunya VLP. The vaccine has been previously used for developing immunity against *Flaviviruses* in mice and monkeys. (Desprès, et al., 2005; Brandler, et al., 2010) This vaccine proved promising in animal studies, but during phase I clinical trials there was dose dependent level of protective antibodies developed as well as dose dependent severe adverse events such as headaches, musculoskeletal pain, and flulike illness. (Brandler, et al., 2013; Ramsauer, et al., 2015) But importantly, there were no developments of arthralgia. (Ramsauer, et al., 2015) The vaccine is now in phase II clinical trials.

Some other vaccines being developed include subunits, live attenuated, DNA, and recombinant. None of the other vaccines have gone past the preclinical trials. The article by Powers (2017) has a summary of all the current CHIKV vaccines in development. Important for all the safety evaluations during clinical trials is the absence of participants developing GBS and arthralgia.

1.4.3 Zika vaccines

Zika vaccine development is much newer, initiated due to its New World outbreak. (Weaver, et al., 2018) There are numerous vaccine candidates in phase I and two are starting phase II trials. There are different methods employed such as DNA, inactivated whole cell, mRNA, and recombinant vaccines being tested. (WHO, n.d. c) In preclinical trials, all vaccine candidates developed neutralizing antibodies in mice as summarized by Abbink, et al. (2017) There are a couple DNA vaccines, of which one is recruiting for Phase II trials. (WHO, n.d. c) The DNA vaccines have expressed ZIKV precursor membrane and envelope proteins and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) has added Japanese encephalitis virus envelope stem and for another vaccine they used wild-type ZIKV, currently in phase II trials in the Americas and Caribbean. (Tebas, et al., 2017; Gaudinski, et al., 2018) Tested in these phase I trials were dosing, immunization schedules, and administration routes of which there was dosedependent antibody responses. Importantly, the vaccines were well tolerated with only mild to moderate vaccine-associated adverse reactions.

WRAID has completed phase I trials for three purified, inactivated vaccines. Tested was one dose regimen and administration route. There was mild to moderate vaccine related adverse effects with neutralizing antibodies produced. They intend to perform follow-up analysis on dosing and immunization schedules. (Modjarrad, , et al., 2018)

The other vaccine type that is in phase I/II trials is mRNA based, developed by Moderna Therapeutics. Preclinically, this vaccine and a live-attenuated vaccine were also tested in immunocompromised pregnancy mice models. Both vaccines prevented fetal death, yet ZIKV RNA was found in various tissues in the mice including the placenta and fetal heads. (Richner, et al., 2017) It would be important to study the effects in immunocompetent mice to determine if viral replication will also occur.

As with all of the vaccines that continue to phase III/IV, it will be important to determine what is considered an adverse event, such as CZS, and thus it will be important how vaccine efficacy will be defined. Additionally, it will be important to ensure safety in all phases of clinical trials with the absence of participants developing GBS. Further, it will also be important to determine immunization scheduling for pregnant or planning to be pregnant women. The mRNA vaccine would be safer for women of childbearing age due to its lack of viral replication. Whereas the live, attenuated vaccine may produce longer-term protection and be used for males and females prior to sexual debut but would require adequate time between vaccination and pregnancy. (Barouch, et al., 2017; Richner, et al., 2017) It also will be difficult to accomplish phase III trials due to the reduction in Zika transmissions globally and there is ethical concerns regarding challenging in clinical trials. (Abbink, et al., 2017; NIH, 2017) One way around this is following the FDA's Animal Efficacy Rule by showing strong correlation of protection, ZIKV neutralizing antibody titers, in preclinical models that translate to humans when it is unethical to test efficacy in humans. (FDA, 2015) Another study design for determining vaccine efficacy is ring vaccination as used during the Ebola vaccination trials. (Henao-Restrepo, et al., 2015) If clinical trials continue, instead of using the FDA's Animal Efficacy Rule, there will need to be large trials to accomplish enough statistical power due to the rare rates of microcephaly. Moreover, there is also the approach of receiving regulatory approval by using clinical endpoints that do not contain CZS. (Barouch, et al., 2017)

1.5 Commonalities of Arboviral Diseases

Dengue, chikungunya, and Zika infections all have common symptomatology leading to a greater difficulty in differential diagnosis. Further, these viruses are spread by the same mosquitoes and so have a common geographical distribution. (Paupy, et al., 2009; Waggoner, et al., 2016; Weaver, et al., 2018; CDC, 2017c) As such, a differential diagnosis is important as the supportive therapy can be different, specifically to not use NSAIDs with a dengue infection. (Simon, et al., 2015) But differential diagnosis requires biological methods and can be difficult as antibodies to

Flaviviruses all cross-react. This cross-reaction can be further complicated by vaccination to other Flaviviruses such as yellow fever and Japanese encephalitis leading to a false-positive result. (Felix, et al., 2017) Thus the need for more specific diagnostic methods such as multiplex RT-PCR to detect mono-infections and co-infections, PRNT, IgG enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), as well as other specific biomarkers of infection. (Ariën, et al., 2018; CDC, 2017c; Guzman, et al., 2010; Kindhauser, et al., 2016; Waggoner, et al., 2016;) Additionally, dengue diagnosis tests have different sensitivity dependent on illness duration. (Simmons, et al., 2012) Chikungunya, being an Alphavirus, does not have cross-reactive antibodies to Flaviviruses. (Kam, et al., 2015) Further complications include the lack of specific treatments available as there is only the option of supportive therapy, including for GBS, microcephaly, and severe dengue. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Simon, et al., 2015; Weaver, et al., 2018) There is research into specific treatments including anti-CHIKV antibodies given to exposed neonates to prevent vertical transmission during intrapartum, evaluating drugs to prevent Flavivirus replication, such as ivermectin which is in a phase II/III trial, and antibiotics that prevent ZIKV replication and the negative side effects ZIKV has on neural cells. (Barrows, et al., 2016; Couderc, et al., 2009; Mastrangelo, et al., 2012; Retallack, et al., 2016)

Due to the common vector, mosquitoes, it is important to prevent further spread by protecting patients from being bitten by mosquitoes in the first week of illness. (Simon, et al., 2015; PAHO, 2016a) The use of bed nets or screens on windows and doors, use of bugspray, and wearing long sleeves and pants can help prevent the spread of infection from sick individuals. (Paupy, et al., 2009; Simon, et al., 2015; PAHO, 2016a; WHO, 2019a) Additionally, due to the potential for severe symptoms with arboviral diseases, it is recommended by the WHO and the

CDC to seek care at a healthcare facility where supportive therapy can lessen disease severity and drastically reduce the chance of death to severe dengue. (CDC, 2017b; PAHO, n.d. e)

1.5.1 Arboviral Diseases' Impact on Populations

According to the WHO, dengue's numerous serotypes and endemo-epidemic pattern of outbreaks has an alarming impact on human health, as well as the national and global economies. (WHO, 2019a) The chikungunya outbreak is estimated to have cost Venezuelans over 1 billion dollars in lost wages. (Yactayo, et al., 2016) For comparison, in 2018 Venezuela had 295 cases and the Eastern Caribbean Countries (ECC) region had 144 cases and in 2019 Venezuela has reported 52 cases and ECC reported 27 cases. (PAHO, n.d. f) After the ZIKV outbreak in Brazil, CZS has had negative socioeconomic consequences for affected families as the mothers take off time from work to devote more time caring for their children. (Weaver, et al., 2016) While malaria is not a concern for the ECC region and not a large concern for the Caribbean it can be an example of economically what is at risk in mosquito-borne disease high-transmission rate areas. Africa is a malaria high-transmission rate area and it has been estimated that a 1.3% reduction in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) is attributed to malaria. This annual loss is compounded over the years with noticeable differences in GDP between countries with and without malaria. Furthermore, in high malaria burden countries malaria accounts for up to 40% of public health expenditures, between 30% to 50% of the inpatient hospital admissions, and up to 60% of outpatient health clinic visits. Moreover, malaria disproportionately affects those who are poor and cannot afford treatment and/or have limited access to health care. Clearly, malaria infections trap families and communities in poverty. (PAHO, n.d. h)

Another impact arboviral diseases have on communities is reduced tourism. The CDC issued travel warnings during the Zika outbreak and other outbreaks as well, including the Jamaica dengue outbreak in early 2019. (CDC, 2019b) In 2019, tourism accounted for 15.5% of the total economy and 2.4 million jobs in the Caribbean. (World Travel and Tourism Council, 2019) For countries where the economy relies on tourism, an outbreak not only hurts those directly affected by the disease, but everyone via the country's economy and individual's livelihoods.

The great direct and indirect harm caused by arboviral diseases indicates the importance of protecting oneself and the community from arboviral infections. The best method is vaccination, yet with none licensed, or for Dengavaxia not currently in use, the next best option is vector control and preventing those who are sick from getting bitten by mosquitoes.

1.6 Information on Aedes mosquitoes

Aedes mosquitoes are an anthropophilic vector where female *Aedes* mosquitoes typically bite multiple people each feeding period. (Scott, et al., 2000; WHO, 2019a; Klitting, et al., 2018; Paupy, et al., 2009) *Ae. albopictus* is an opportunistic zoophilic feeder, but prefers humans when in urban settings, thus an important concern for zoonotic diseases and sylvatic transmissions. (Delatte, et al., 2010; Paupy, et al., 2009; Scott, et al., 2000) *Aedes* mosquitoes usually bite during the day and are exophagic, preferential feeding during the early morning and late evening and both indoors and outdoors near buildings. (Paupy, et al., 2009; CDC, 2017a; WHO, n.d. a) Additionally, *Aedes* mosquitoes prefer to lay their eggs indoors and in domestic water sources such as discarded water bottles and flowerpots above the waterline. Whereas *Ae. albopictus* is more likely to lay eggs in more natural items in peri-urban areas and shady parks such as coconut husks, bamboo stumps, and discarded tires as well as in natural water habitats with plants. (ECDC, 2016a, 2016b; PAHO, n.d. e; WHO, n.d. a; Hawley, 1988; Klitting, et al., 2018; Paupy, et al., 2009; Ngoagouni, et al., 2015; Powell, et al., 2013) Importantly, *Aedes* mosquito eggs attach to the containers where they are deposited and can survive desiccation for over a year. (Powell, et al., 2013; PAHO, 2016a; ECDC, 2016b, WHO, 2019a) The domestic form of *Aedes* mosquitoes is often found within 100 meters of human habitats and regardless of if they are the domestic form or not, they have a flight range of 25 to 400 meters. (ECDC, 2016a; PAHO, 2016a) Being adapted to the urban environment, *Aedes* mosquitoes do not rely on rainfall for breeding sites. (ECDC, 2016a; Klitting, et al., 2018, Paupy, et al., 2009) Interestingly, both *Aedes* species are capable of coexistence in larval and adult habitats and they can coexist with other mosquito genus'. As such, it cannot be assumed that one species will displace the other even with *Ae. albopictus* demonstrating in field studies to have a higher population growth rate. (Juliano, et al., 2004; Paupy, et al., 2009; Ngoagouni, et al., 2015)

Aedes aegypti are confined to the tropics and subtropics region of the world, where as *Aedes albopictus* can also live in temperate and cold temperate regions. (Paupy, et al., 2009; Simmons, et al., 2012; WHO, n.d. a) Interestingly, *Ae. albopictus* is highly adaptive due to their tolerances to low temperature (about 9 °C/ 48 °F), ability to hibernate, and the ability to shelter in microhabitats which allows for the spread to colder temperate regions. (Paupy, et al., 2009; WHO, 2019a) Further, *Ae. albopictus* eggs can suspend development (diapause) overwinter (as long as it is less than six months) with temperate mosquitoes' eggs survive temperatures as low as -10°C/14 °F and tropical mosquitoes' eggs survive temperatures as low as -2 °C/ 28 °F. (Paupy, et al., 2009; ECDC, 2016b) In shared larval water sources, *Ae. aegypti* are dominant in early rainy season and *Ae. albopictus* comprise the majority of larvae in late rainy season. (Ngoagouni, et al., 2015; Powell, et al., 2013) Most mosquito-borne disease outbreaks occur during and soon after the rainy
season as well as at the end of the dry season, although having water containers in and near homes can contribute to longer outbreaks that do not end in the dry season. (CDC, 2017a; WHO, n.d. a) All these attributes, specifically the anthropophilic and endophilic preferences, indicate urban areas are typically more at risk of outbreaks than rural.

2.0 Epidemiology

The Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week targets the participation of all the Caribbean islands. However, the epidemiological data for dengue, chikungunya, and Zika as well as the Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Activities in this report will focus on the countries under the PAHO Barbados and ECC office excluding the French Department of the Americas (i.e., French Guiana, Guadeloupe, and Martinique). The French Department of the Americas (FD) is excluded due to the language barrier and according to PAHO's Barbados and the ECC office's Advisor for Climate Change and Environmental Determinants of Health, who oversees MAW implementation and evaluation, it is difficult to coordinate with these countries due to the fact that overseas territories are still under the governance of their mainland country, in this case France. The included countries in this evaluation are: Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Barbados, British Virgin Islands, the Commonwealth of Dominica, Grenada, Montserrat, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines.

The epidemiological data for the number of cases of dengue, chikungunya, and Zika came from PAHO's Health Information Platform for the Americas (PLISA) database accessed on July 16, 2019, as such the epidemiological (epi) week reported in 2019 will be listed in this report. The data in PLISA is reported by the country's Health Ministries to PAHO. (PAHO, n.d. f) The chikungunya data for 2015 - 2017 was not listed in PLISA, but came from PAHO's Chikungunya: Data, Maps, and statistics website. (PAHO, n.d. d) All data represented in the figures is the total number of cases, i.e., suspected, confirmed, and imported.

In 2001, PAHO's 43rd Directing Council developed a framework for dengue prevention and control, discussed below. Outlined in this document was recommendations for what to include in dengue case reporting (probable cases, laboratory-confirmed cases, serotypes, deaths, etc.). Additionally outlined is the frequency of reporting the data weekly to PAHO, from Ministries of Health (MoH), so that PAHO can give the data monthly to the member states. Standardizing the necessary information as well as regularly communicating and disseminating the information allows for a timelier reaction to any outbreaks for all countries in the Americas region. (PAHO, 2001) In 2016, PAHO's 55th Directing Council developed a framework for arboviral prevention and control that included strengthening surveillance for Zika and chikungunya. In the resolution document, there was no mention of what information to report nor the frequency. (PAHO, 2016d) This may explain the low number of reporting countries regarding confirmed cases and deaths attributed to chikungunya and Zika compared to dengue.

Figure 2 shows the reported dengue cases in Barbados and the ECC excluding FD for 2014 - 2019. For 2019, there was a range of epi week 6 - 24 being reported and all countries reported data for 2019. There was one reported death in Barbados in 2015 and since then there have been zero reported deaths from all in the Barbados and ECC region, although Anguilla did not submit a report for deaths in 2017. The case fatality rate for the reported deaths is less than 1% which is in line with the WHO's assessment of what proper case management can accomplish. Numerous countries saw a spike in dengue cases in 2016. This may be due to the Zika outbreak as it was originally difficult to differentiate the two viruses and so some cases may actually be Zika. Another possibility is a concomitant dengue outbreak with Zika or even an increased number of patients seeking medical care due to the Zika outbreak. The last possible explanation is an increase in cases due to lax VC operations contributing to increased mosquito populations. Antigua and Barbuda saw a spike in cases in 2019, when most other countries were seeing a decline or similar numbers

to previous years. Data on dengue cases is more complete than for Zika and chikungunya thus trends seen for dengue cases are more likely to be accurate.

Figure 3 shows the dengue and severe dengue cases for the select Barbados and the ECC countries reporting severe dengue cases for 2014 - 2019. Barbados and Dominica have reported severe dengue cases during the 2014 - 2019 period. Although, zero cases of severe dengue have been reported from all Barbados and ECC countries since 2016. The maximum reported number of severe dengue cases was in Barbados in 2014 (2 cases). There was less than 1% of dengue cases developing severe dengue.

Figure 4 shows the reported chikungunya cases in Barbados and the ECC excluding FD for 2014 - 2019. Epi week 15 was the last reported week for 2019. There were no reported chikungunya deaths and very few imported cases from the countries that did report data. The imported cases were reported in Anguilla (2 cases in 2014) and Barbados (8 cases in 2014). No country reported 2017 data regarding chikungunya cases. Saint Kitts and Nevis (2 cases) and Saint Lucia (2 cases) were the only reporting countries in 2018. In 2019, Barbados (27 cases) and Saint Lucia (0 cases) were the only reporting countries. Regarding Barbados not reporting CHIKV cases in 2018 and reporting 27 cases in 2019 does not indicate a trend showing VC operations failed for the year. Moreover, with the Zika outbreak in 2015 - 2016, it is possible that the reports for chikungunya decreased due to the greater concern for the higher morbidity attributed to Zika and thus a re-focus of limited resources.

Of the countries that reported, there were no imported cases or deaths attributed to Zika in 2015 - 2019 in Barbados and the ECC. Figure 5 shows the reported Zika cases in Barbados and the ECC excluding FD for 2015 - 2019. Epi week 12 was the last reported week for 2019 with zero cases reported for the few countries submitting data. In 2016, every country reported Zika cases.

Again, it appears there were zero cases reported for numerous countries in 2017 - 2019, yet many countries did not report any data. Even with a spike in Zika cases in 2016 followed by the lack of cases from 2017 onwards, this does not necessarily indicate VC operations are truly successful. Interestingly, in 2016 with the Zika outbreak in the Caribbean, there was also some spikes in cases reported for chikungunya and dengue.

The CDC (2018) mentioned, "... 'epidemiologic silence' does not mean absence of risk, travelers should not go into endemic areas without taking protective measures." The lack of chikungunya and Zika cases reported by numerous countries makes it appear as if there were zero cases, this is likely not the case as the lack of a report does not equate to zero cases reported. Failure to report cases may be intentional as there is no requirement to submit data to PAHO. Countries may fear losing tourists if there is a perceived health threat, so by not reporting cases it artificially looks safer to visit the countries. Therefore for the PLISA data, there is concern that a lack of report does not mean the Ministries of Health in those countries are finding zero cases. Further, the lack of reports or reporting zero cases should not mean for those living in those countries that it is safe to stop all VC efforts nor is it indicative of vector control program effectiveness.





Data source: PAHO's PLISA



Figure 3 The number of all dengue cases and severe dengue cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the countries reporting and for the years reported, 2014 - 2019.

Data source: PAHO's PLISA



Figure 4 The number of chikungunya cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the years reported, 2014 - 2019.

Data source: PAHO's PLISA and Chikungunya: Data, Maps, and statistics



Figure 5 The number of Zika cases in Barbados and ECC excluding the French Department of the Americas (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, and Martinique) for the years reported, 2015 - 2019.

Data source: PAHO's PLISA

3.0 PAHO and WHO's Strategies for Prevention and Control of Arboviruses

Strategies for mosquito control have changed throughout the last century. As previously mentioned, there was a mostly successful mosquito elimination campaign, primarily using insecticides, in the early to mid 20th century. This fell apart as it became more successful mostly due to lack of continued political will and financial resources, mosquito resistance to insecticides used, increased international travel, and insufficient environmental sanitation facilitating the reintroduction and spread of A. aegypti. Further, the lack of a strong surveillance system hid the emergence of A. albopictus and thus the ability to institute timely control measures. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Webb, 2016) Moreover, any new strategies must learn from and adapt previous elimination efforts while incorporating new technology and engaging the public as populations are larger combined with a larger volume of global trade (including used tires) than that of the mid-20th century contribute to further increased susceptible population and global spread. (Paupy, et al., 2009; Webb, 2016) In 2001, most dengue control programs were vertical, requiring a strong sustained political will with economic commitment and typically with the focus being on using adulticides and eliminated breeding sites. (Paupy, et al., 2009) PAHO aimed to promote a new strategic framework to have some continuity in programs developed by each country while keeping their specific needs in mind and allowing for their specific social, economic, political, historical, and cultural contexts. Included in the framework was to strengthen dengue prevention and control in national programs through improved surveillance, community participation, and social communication and advocacy. The developed programs from this framework were to rely on concomitant actions from intersectoral partnerships for sustainable environmental planning, urban planning, improved access to water and sanitation, and health education. To accomplish this by

using a diagonal approach with the local government acting as an active leader of the programs with individual households, communities, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), educational sectors, environmental sectors, private industry, and the healthcare sector participating. The local government would implement health education, legislation, solid waste disposal, and water supply and disposal (so homes and businesses can eliminate the need for rainwater collection). (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; PAHO, 2001) Using a diagonal approach ensures VC programs optimize their limited financial and human resources. (PAHO, 2016d) Additionally, the desire was to move into actions for prevention as opposed to reactionary due to an outbreak. Programs that wait for an outbreak before taking action can soon find each outbreak escalating due to the increased vector prevalence and increased dengue serotype circulation. Moreover, to save adulticides for during outbreaks due to its ephemeral effect. To accomplish this strategy, PAHO developed a standardized dengue data reporting and dissemination procedure, previously mentioned in the Epidemiology Data section. In the strategy some preventative methods mentioned are using larvicides and source reduction (the most effective method for reducing mosquito density) and that both require maintenance and can be time-consuming. (PAHO, 2001) Source reduction is something that everyone in the community can participate in, schools, churches, local industries, residents, and so on. (Paupy, et al., 2009; PAHO, 2001, 2016a) The activities taken for VC should be nation-wide as mosquitoes and social determinants of health do not adhere to borders, thus the need for collaboration among different sectors and effective communication between neighboring countries.

The 2001 PAHO framework along with the increasing dengue incidence, became the backbone for future strategic framework. This includes the 2003's *Integrated Management Strategy for Dengue Prevention and Control (IMS-Dengue)* that focused recommendations on

intersectoral participation and action for integrated vector management (IVM), epidemiology, entomology, healthcare, laboratories, the environment, and social communication with clear definitions and responsibilities within the scope of expertise for strengthening national programs. Also included was for countries to develop strategies for responding to outbreaks. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; PAHO, n.d. g)

Integrated vector management is an important part of vector control. IVM involves multisectoral/intersectoral approach using multiple efficacious, ecologically sound, and sustainable resources for vector control as history has proven one method is not sufficient for mosquito control due to the selective pressures it creates. (ECDC, 2016a; WHO, n.d. b) Included in IVM is the use of advocacy, social mobilization, intersectoral collaboration, use of chemical and biological VC methods for the adult and immature or aquatic (egg, larva, and pupae) stages, operational entomological and epidemiological surveillance, and training and capacity building in the community and in the various levels of government. (WHO, n.d. b) It is easy to see that since 2001, IVM has been integral in all the framework PAHO has introduced.

Soon after the chikungunya outbreak and during the Zika outbreak in the Americas, and further building on previous strategic frameworks developed (mentioned above), PAHO developed the *Strategy for Arboviral Disease Prevention and Control (IMS-Arbovirus)* in 2016 as each arbovirus cannot be viewed as an independent problem. Again the focus for the strategy's framework was on intersectoral collaboration on comprehensive surveillance, laboratory diagnosis, patient care, and IVM emphasizing social participation. Accomplished through environmental management, surveillance, encouraging political will and financial commitment, strengthening the health sector capacity in differential diagnosis (along with laboratories), arboviral disease management, and communication with the community. Importantly, there was the inclusion of ensuring the most vulnerable in the population are protected, involving and empowering the community to actively participate in VC, and using the WHO's vector control advisory group to help pilot testing new VC tools, e.g. sterilized male mosquitoes, *Wolbachia* infected mosquitoes, and new tools as developed. Moreover, to strengthen and ensure evidence based decisions by including entomology and epidemiology data in program evaluations. (PAHO, 2016d)

Source reduction relies on a behavior change and community engagement, in order to be successful and sustainable it is important to know the communities, health care providers, and politician's knowledge, attitudes, and current practices regarding mosquito control and prevention, preferred communication sources, and the current available government services. (PAHO, 2001) Knowing potential barriers and facilitators in each target area in a country will allow for a tailored approach to meet the needs of the community. Another helpful tool developed from PAHO's 2001 strategy, is the WHO's communication for behavioral impact strategy (COMBI) a method for approaching behavior changes with social mobilization and communication. (PAHO, 2001, 2016d; WHO, 2012)

Through all of these frameworks developed, PAHO acts as the technical advisor and support for countries regarding community engagement, capacity building for the health sector, surveillance, and social mobilization. Although PAHO cannot enforce any strategies or plans, that is entirely at the discretion of each sovereign nation. (PAHO, 2001, 2016d) In 2018, this was further laid out in PAHO's *Plan of Action on Entomology and Vector Control 2018-2023* plan of action document. The document proposed a plan to accelerate the control and elimination of vector-borne diseases through five strategic lines of action that would strengthen IVM and human capacity. The second line of action specifically involves engagement and mobilization of regional

and local governments and communities for sustained vector control and prevention. In this action is for countries to develop effective community engagement, mobilization, and communication while paying attention to social dynamics. (PAHO, 2018b) This is where Mosquito Awareness Week fits. By providing a week for Ministries of Health to focus on the community engagement aspect of IVM through training, education, and capacity building. Aimed to accomplish behavior change for the community, healthcare providers, other ministries, and the private sector. Over time and with sustained VC efforts, the goal is for the number of arboviral disease cases and outbreaks to decrease due to the entomological decrease in *Aedes* mosquitoes.

3.1 Mosquito Awareness Week

Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week (MAW) is a collaborative effort between the Caribbean Public Health Agency (CARPHA), Caribbean Community (CARICOM), and PAHO. The goal is to strengthen existing regional initiatives and engage the public to take action and remove mosquito breeding grounds. According to CARPHA, the initiative aims to "bring the region together to protect communities against diseases such as dengue, chikungunya, Zika spread by the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito, and malaria spread by the *Anopheles* mosquito." (CARPHA, n.d.)

The yearly initiative was started in 2016 by CARPHA due to the concurrent Zika outbreak in the Caribbean. The first MAW had 13 Caribbean countries and territories participating and focused on Zika and the associated risks for pregnant women. Due to its success, PAHO expanded the program to the entire Americas region. (CARICOM, 2016; PAHO, 2016b, 2018a) All future references to MAW are focused to the Caribbean MAW program and activities. MAW 2017 primarily focused on messaging through increasing health care workers responsibilities for disseminating information to their patients regarding personal protective measures and eliminating mosquito breeding sites. The secondary focus was on action by strengthening household and community participation in vector control. (CARPHA, 2017; PAHO, n.d. a) There was no evaluation of 2017's Mosquito Awareness Week's activities for participating Caribbean countries and territories. MAW 2018 efforts focused messages reaching the male and female heads of households to eliminate mosquito breeding sites around their homes. (PAHO, n.d. b) From the 2018 report, only six countries and territories reported participation in MAW activities. This led to MAW 2019's focus of getting VC efforts onto each Caribbean countries MoH's agenda so as to have continued education and mosquito eradication efforts.

The theme, "Small Bite, Big Treat" and the slogan, "Fight the Bite, Destroy Mosquito Breeding Sites" was the same theme and slogan as in previous years. (PAHO, 2019) Mosquito Awareness Week's intention were to educate children over 12 years of age and the heads of households regarding diseases spread by mosquitoes, how to protect from getting bitten, and identifying and removing mosquito breeding sites around the house. (CARPHA, 2019; PAHO, n.d. c, 2019) Secondary, was targeting healthcare workers, community leaders, and civil society in disease prevention and environmental protection. (PAHO, 2019) By educating and empowering people, together the Caribbean can fight mosquito borne diseases. (CARPHA, 2019) Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 occurred 6-12 May 2019. (PAHO, n.d.c)

According to the MAW 2019 concept note, PAHO gave countries the proposal on MAW objectives, some guidelines on the communication campaign, intended audiences, as well as tips on planning, implementation, and evaluation of MAW activities. To also help countries with planning activities, a list of suggested events for the national and community level were included. But ultimately the MAW objectives, the communication and social mobilization strategies, and

indicators of success were left to the countries to determine in order to better accommodate the specific needs of each country to facilitate better integration of activities. The concept note is to serve more as a call-to-action. MAW 2019's audience included the MoH and other ministries, other authorities including community leaders, the private sector, primary health care workers, vector control officers, families, and civil society organizations. Ultimately, PAHO wanted entomology and VC teams working with the communication and health promotion teams. The main objective for MAW 2019 was to increase political will for increasing vector control to promote sustained behavioral change, regarding eliminating mosquito breeding grounds, in different populations. The specific objectives included:

- For decision-makers to increase commitment to implementing policies to improve the conditions that will aid in the prevention and control of mosquitoes,
- For all countries in the region to participate and include MAW annually in official agendas, as well as to promote with regional media campaigns,
- Promote information dissemination to the community and tourists through the tourism sector and medical professionals
- Promoting social mobilization and participation of the community to eliminate mosquito breeding sites
 - Facilitate intersectoral coordination of activities for vector control
- Support the tourism sector to provide personal protection supplies against mosquitos to tourist
- Raise awareness among medical professionals as to their roles in information dissemination regarding patients' personal protection methods and mosquito breeding site elimination

4.0 Methodology

Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, the British Virgin Islands, Dominica, Saint Lucia, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines were the countries in PAHO's Barbados and ECC region that participated in Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week 2019. These countries submitted photos, videos, and/or a report of the completed activities to the Climate Change and Environmental Determinants of Health Advisor for the Barbados and the ECC PAHO office. Additional sources included social media posts and newspaper articles reporting on the event. Activities were compiled, limitations assessed, and recommendations given for future Mosquito Awareness Week activities.

5.0 Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Evaluation and Evidence

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
Anguilla	Department of Health and Protection, Health Authority of Anguilla, NHPD	Kool FM, Radio Anguilla, Upbeat and Klass FM	• Using radio for press release (13th), mosquito jingle & text messages (13- 17th)	13-17 May	Submitted schedule of planned events
		3 schools	 School lecture at: St. Mary's preschool (13th) Orealia Kelly Primary School (14th) Vivien Vanterpool Primary (15th) 	13-15 May	
		Not provided	• Business search & destroy day	14 May	
		General Post Office, The Valley	• Community outreach awareness program	15 May	
		Scotiabank, The Valley	 Community Outreach Awareness program: Advice and instructions for controlling the spread of mosquitoes and rodents by providing instructions on traps and poisons to use Displayed Gravid Trap (for Culex) and GAT-Trap (for Aedes) and explained how they 	17 May	The Anguillian Newspaper-gave contact info for the Department at the event in case the public has questions or needs assistance

Table 1 List of activities performed by ECC participating in 2019's Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week.

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			 work Rat poison education on toxicity and personal protective equipment Personnel willing to assist with deterrents and gave out contact information 		
Antigua and Barbuda	Ministry of Health and The Environ- ment "Join the fight and lessen the bite"	Parade through St John	 Health, Wellness and the Environment Minister talked to Central Board of Health Workers: His message: keep working hard (as part of parade) and that the diseases trying to prevent are serious and prevention makes the doctors work to treat less futile He encouraged everyone that source reduction is possible for all to accomplish. Mosquito jingle Parade (NGOs and Central Board of Health Workers) to hand out placards, flyers, and banners for the anti- mosquito message 	8 July	Ministry of Health and The Environ-ment Facebook posts
		Judgement Square on Market Street	 Grand exhibition: Posters of how to prevent & clear breeding sites, the 	9 July	

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			 mosquito life cycle, removing stagnant water & covering drums Banner from Red Cross and USAID on protecting and preventing Zika methods Tent with info and BTI and other larvicides/ adulticides (and instructions for use) and mosquito larvae to see, diorama of how to protect yard via source reduction 		
		St. John	• Pamphlet (Zika prevention for children, elderly, and general info), flyer, leaflet handout to nearby pedestrians and drivers		
		Fort James beach in the morning and Runaway Beach in the afternoon	 Beach clean-up: Video encouraging public to carry their trash out Video and photos of Central Board of Health Workers cleaning Beaches as part of grand litter picking exercise (50 workers and 60 bags of trash) 	10 July	
		Dredgers Play-field	• Video and photos of Central Board of Health staff	11 July	

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			 received certificate of appreciation (for length of service of 20 to 37 years) and gifts during MAW Sports Day Posted PAHO's YouTube video <i>Rain Barrels</i> (<i>Together</i>) and <i>The</i> <i>Ross Hill Swat Club</i> Videos from the MAW Sports Day (open to the public and for the vector control workers to enjoy as well) 		
		Not provided	• Leaflet and flyer distribution at all major supermarkets on the island (mentioned, but no photos/videos posted)	12 July	
British Virgin Islands	Ministry of Health and Social Develop- ment, Environ- mental Health Division	Primary Schools on Tortola island (grades 2-4) Francis Lettsome Primary School grounds	 80 students participated Describe diseases transmitted by <i>Aedes aegypti</i> Teaching the mosquito life cycle & observe larvae and pupae "Mosquito Breeding Sites Treasure Hunt" activity 	6-12 May	Submitted video & report
		Ivan Dawson Primary School grounds	 48 students participated Discuss importance of destroying mosquito breeding 		

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			 sites Student & teachers discussion on mosquitoes "Mosquito Trivia" winners got a certificate 		
		Joyce Samuel Primary School grounds	 52 students participated Discussing mosquitoes' potential breeding sites Talking to students & teachers (students seeing larvae & pupae) 		
		Mosquito Exhibition in Road Town	 Explaining mosquito life cycle to public Handing out pamphlets Model house showing potential breeding sites (and life cycle) Talking to public Have a fogger and insecticides along with pamphlets and mosquito larvae/pupae for people to see 	12 May	
Dominica	Environ- mental Health Department	Castle Bruce Platform (Playing field), Weirs Flat in Marigot, Bath Estate, & Anse de	 Mosquito Drum proofing (Supported by National Pest & Termite Control Ltd. Dominica Red Cross, and the Health Promotion Unit) 	6-10 May	Submitted report and photos

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
		Mai Flat Castle Bruce Primary	• Tire painting		
		School Schools in their usual classrooms in Roseau Health District, Wesley Health District, Portsmouth Health District, & St. Joseph Health District	 Mosquito Education Awareness (health education sessions at): Awareness on: mosquito life cycle, breeding sites, diseases, and prevention tips, also observe larvae and pupae Use of PAHO's SWAT Workbook Certification of participation awarded at Salybia Primary School 		
		Convent High School grounds	 Mural painting depicting mosquito breeding sites by the High School's 4-H club (Sponsored by the Dominica Red Cross) 		
		Kingshill	 Mosquito Drive: Vector control surveillance in the community by the Environmental Health officers and Vector Control Officers Education material distributed to households 		

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			Open Air Meeting: • Education session on mosquito control and waste management (Soufriere Village Council collaborated)		
St. Lucia	Department of Health and Wellness, Environ- mental Health Division; Training also by Bureau of Health Education	Anse La Raye Constituency Council	 VC training, 15 participants trained Trained on how to analyze collected data and plan appropriate interventions Drafted sustainable VC plan, agreed by both the council and Environmental health division 	2-5 July	Submitted report on July 19, 2019
	Education, Saint Lucia Solid Waste Manage-	Castries Southeast Constituency Council	• VC training	23- 26 July	
ment Authority, Substance Abuse Secretariat	ment Authority, Substance Abuse Secretariat	Vieux Fort & Dennery Constituency Councils	• Last 2 VC trainings (no further data available)	August 2019	
St. Vincent and Grenadines	Ministry of Health Wellness & the Environ- ment	Various primary schools in their usual classrooms	Health education sessions on Leeward coast, St. Vincent: Spring Village Methodist, West Wood Methodist, Troumaca Primary, Fitz Hughes Primary, and Chateaubelair Primary School • Lectures (with information	6 May	Submitted video and report

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
			handouts), mosquito identification (microscopes)		
		In students' usual classrooms	 Health education session at Paget Farm Primary School in Bequia: Lectures (with information handouts), mosquito identification (microscopes) 	7 May	
		Done in various communities across St. Vincent	• Whistle stop on Leeward Coast, St. Vincent starting at Layou and Barrouallie		
		In students' usual classrooms	 Health education session on Windward coast, St. Vincent (Georgetown Primary, Dickson Primary, Langley Park Primary, Tourama Primary, and Sandy Bay Primary school) Lectures (with information handouts), mosquito identification (microscopes) 	8 May	
		Union Island	• Health Fair at the Captain Hugh, Mulzac Square in Clifton		
		Done in various communities	• Whistle stop starting at Owia	9 May	

Country	Department	Location	Activities	Dates	Source
		across St. Vincent			
		Port Elizabeth	• Health fair		
		Done in various communities across St. Vincent	• Whistle stop in Georgetown area	10 May	

From the submitted documents, Saint Lucia was the only country that developed several specific objectives: to reduce the vector population by 25% and to train 70 constituency council members in the targeted communities by September 2019. The British Virgin Islands, Dominica, and Saint Lucia listed objectives in their report congruent with the concept note. The communication slogans and themes were the same on all the participating islands. The British Virgin Islands added to the MAW slogan "Protect yourself, reduce mosquito breeding sites, and keep mosquitoes out." Saint Vincent and the Grenadines ended their submitted video with "Our Health is a Shared Responsibility." Lastly, Antigua and Barbuda used "Small bite, big threat. Join the Mosquito Fight and Lessen the Bite."

All activities submitted by the participating countries are included in Table 1. The use of audio messages was not as pronounced in the reports as in previous years' activities. Yet, as in 2016, Anguilla used radio messages and text messages to reach the entire island. This year Antigua and Barbuda used PAHO's Mosquito jingle during their activities and parade as well as posted PAHO's YouTube videos *Rain Barrels (Together)* and *The Ross Hill Swat Club* on the Ministry of Health and the Environment's Facebook page.

Anguilla, the British Virgin Islands (BVI), Dominica, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines had children focused health education sessions located in schools. BVI mentioned they focused on school aged children due to previous experiences showing school aged children retain the information and pass it to other household members. Anguilla only mentioned they visited three schools during MAW 2019. BVI (visited three primary schools), Dominica (visited four schools), and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines (visited ten schools) elaborated more as to the curriculum of their health education sessions. Common was education on identifying *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes, the mosquito life cycle, diseases transmitted by mosquitoes, how to identify common breeding grounds and the importance of cleaning your surroundings, and how to protect yourself from being bitten. Additionally, students were able to observe live mosquito larvae and pupae. Health education sessions were taught by Environmental Health Officers (EHO) and/or Vector Control Officers (VCO) either in the student's classroom or on the school grounds.

Specific to BVI's health education sessions the Environmental Health Division staff and VCOs explained their roles and responsibilities regarding mosquito control. As part of the session, students were encouraged to share prior knowledge on mosquitoes. Included in the session was a model house with some commonly found items to display mosquito breeding sites. Prior to the health education sessions, the VCO and Environmental Health Division staff went around Francis Lettsome school grounds to stage, and in some cases use existing, mosquito breeding containers to be used in a "Mosquito Breeding Sites Treasure Hunt." Students organized into groups with an Officer as team leader. The group who found the most breeding sites received a certificate of achievement for outstanding vector control activities. The other schools visited on BVI did not do a treasure hunt due to the weather and instead participated in group trivia on what was discussed during the health education sessions. The winning group also received a certificate of achievement.

BVI deemed Mosquito Awareness Week 2019's health education sessions in schools a success that will continue in future Mosquito Awareness Week programs.

Dominica kept the same focus as in 2016: health education in schools and mosquito proofing barrels (mentioned below). Dominica's Mosquito Education Awareness was led by EHOs and certificates of participation were handed out to students at Salybia Primary School and Castle Bruce Health District. Also part of the mobilization efforts in Dominica included painting a mural depicting mosquito breeding sites, completed by the Convent High School 4-H club and sponsored by the Dominica Red Cross. Additionally, Dominica's Castle Bruce Primary School painted some used car tires. The end goal of the painted tires was not described in the report or alluded to in the photos. It is possible they were used for gardening efforts as has been seen on Caribbean islands. From the video Saint Vincent and the Grenadines submitted, it appeared as if while doing the health education sessions on the school grounds the Officers also talked to community members who approached them.

Community education efforts appeared to be another common activity among the participating countries. Antigua and Barbuda's community education included a parade of NGOs and the Central Board of Health Workers staff who all handed out flyers to pedestrians. The parade was attended by the Health, Wellness and the Environment Minister who encouraged workers to continue source reduction to prevent diseases. They also handed out flyers at major supermarkets on the island. Additionally, Antigua and Barbuda hosted a Grand Exhibition with posters on how to prevent and clear breeding sites, the mosquito life cycle, and to remove stagnant water and cover drums/barrels. Part of the Grand Exhibition included information on larvicides and adulticides, observable mosquito larvae, and a diorama of how to do source reduction to protect your home. To celebrate their staff, they initiated MAW Sports Day where Central Board of Health Staff and

the community could play sports together. During the MAW Sports Day, the Central Board of Health Staff who worked 20 to 37 years were given a Certificate of Appreciation.

Anguilla's Community Outreach Awareness program involved displayed traps and poisons with advice and instructions for controlling the spread of mosquitoes and rodents. BVI hosted an exhibition located in a high traffic place and used a tent sponsored by the BVI Digicel branch. In addition to the same information presented at Antigua and Barbuda's exhibition, BVI presented insecticides, fogging machines, screens, repellent, observable larvae and pupae, and the same model house as used in the school's Health Education Session. BVI mentioned they handed out over 300 educational brochures during the exhibition and reported community members were impressed and approved the efforts taken by the VCOs in preventing mosquitoes. Dominica also hosted an education session focused on mosquito control and waste management with the collaboration of the Soufriere Village Council. Lastly, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines hosted a health fair on Union Island to hand out information, with no specifics mentioned.

Dominica's other focus, mosquito proofing drums, occurred in Bath Estate (13 drums), Marigot (30 drums), Anse de Mai (31 drums), and Castle Bruce (20 drums) with a total of 94 mosquito proofed drums. The event was supported by National Pest & Termite Control Ltd., Dominica Red Cross, and the Health Promotion Unit. Additionally, the Dominica Red Cross donated the material to mosquito proof 20 drums in Bath Estate. From the pictures submitted, it appears as if Dominica had about 5 to 10 individuals attend each mosquito proofing drum session.

Saint Lucia focused entirely on capacity building through education in four high risk communities to address the high incidence of vector-borne diseases and waste management issues. Only one community's Constituency Council, Anse Le Raye (15 participants), had completed the training. The training involved 1 to 3 days of classes covering nine courses: Introduction to Vector

Control, Mosquito Biology and Control, Vector Borne Diseases 1 (Mosquito Borne Disease), Rodent Biology and Control, Vector Borne Diseases 2 (Rodent Borne Disease, Leptospirosis), Integrated Vector Management, Use of Personal Protective Equipment, Environmental Factors Contributing to Vector Borne Disease, and Effective Communication and Substance Abuse. On training day 4 participants walked through the community to inspect for mosquito and rodent control opportunities. Additionally, the participants were trained to analyze data and plan an appropriate intervention as well as to draft a sustainable VC plan to be agreed by both the Council and the Environmental Health Division. The other targeted communities were scheduled to begin training at the end of July 2019 and in August 2019. Further reports and information was not available as such it is not currently possible to determine if Saint Lucia meet their specific objectives.

Another common activity included clean up and VC surveillance of communities. Anguilla hosted a Business Search and Destroy Day, again there was no report elaborating on the activities performed. Antigua and Barbuda's Central Board of Health Workers gathered 60 bags of trash from two beaches. Dominica's Mosquito Drive involved EHO and VCO inspecting 20 premises and handed out education materials. Lastly, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines did "Whistle Stops" which involved walking around neighborhoods on Saint Vincent handing out information packets. Additionally, an Officer dressed as a mosquito and visited several preschools and local shops.

6.0 Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Discussion

The inaugural Mosquito Awareness Week was established concurrent with the Zika outbreak in 2016. (CARICOM, 2016; PAHO, 2016b, 2018a) The Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week is a collaborative effort between CARICOM, CARPHA, and PAHO to strengthen the existing regional vector control initiatives and engage the public to take action to remove mosquito breeding grounds. (CARPHA, n.d.) The main objective for MAW 2019 was to increase political will for increasing vector control to promote sustained behavioral change for eliminating mosquito breeding grounds in different populations. The countries that participated completed a variety of activities focused primarily on educational activities in the community and at schools. The British Virgin Islands mentioned they focus activities on school aged children due to previous experiences showing school aged children retain the information and pass it to other household members. By investing behavior change in children now, there is a greater change of sustained behavior change.

The British Virgin Islands are the only country that included country specific recommendations, based on 2018 and 2019's activities, for future BVI MAWs. They recommend to plan for February instead of April and to include more islands such as Anegada, Virgin Gorda (including partnering with their BugOut initiative), and Jost Van Dyke. For all the remaining recommendations BVI would like VCOs to be more involved as their roles and responsibilities takes them into the communities where the public interacts with them. Additionally, BVI wants to hand out repellents, mosquito screens, and larvicides in addition to pamphlets. Further, BVI would like to design more user friendly pamphlets that include an activity related to identifying mosquito breeding sites. BVI desires to contact more public and private schools and to develop new ways for more student engagement, e.g., drawing the mosquito life cycle, a slogan competition, a

mosquito awareness parade, and a short inter-school competition on vector control activities where the winners receive trophies from the Environmental Health Officers. Additionally, BVI would like to have a larger exhibition in collaboration with other governmental agencies and schools. The exhibition would have multiple stations displaying mosquito larvae, mosquito transmitted diseases, the three forms of control (chemical, biological, and physical), and other ideas as conceived. In addition to all the recommendations, BVI would like to reach more of their population. They propose using more media sources (TV, social media, and radio) as well as to have an interactive question and answer segment on the radio. While this is specifically mentioned by BVI, other countries could benefit from these recommendations as well.

Regarding the British Virgin Islands desire to change the month of Mosquito Awareness Week activities, if MAW is on the Ministries of Health's agenda in each country, then each country will have to approve a budget, human resource allocation, and planning for the activities and as such can plan the timeline to suit their specific needs. Additionally, as *Aedes* mosquitoes do not rely on rainfall for breeding sites and mosquitoes are present year round in the tropics, MAW activities can occur at any time of year in order to fit around other programs. (Klitting, et. al., 2018, Paupy, et. al., 2009; Simmons, 2012) PAHO setting the second week of May serves as a call to action and sets a goal of when to complete implement planned activities. This year's MAW activities were completed by countries in May, June, and August (Table 1). In the 2016 Mosquito Awareness Week Report, it was noted that the original date was set for February yet being so early in the year it did not lend enough time for planning and implementation and thus future MAWs were set for April.

Saint Lucia and Antigua and Barbuda's activities appeared to focus less on education of school-aged children, which may be due to the Ministry of Education not allowing participation.

With the success other islands are having with this activity, if Saint Lucia and Antigua and Barbuda want to include school-aged children in their target population, it is recommended they contact Anguilla, BVI, Dominica, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines regarding how they have successfully implemented visiting schools and collaborating with the Ministry of Education. Additionally, Dominica's activities involved the collaboration with an NGO and a private business. Other countries may desire to contact Dominica to assist in methods for creating collaborations with other local organizations and businesses.

Antigua and Barbuda's Central Board of Health staff performed the beach clean-ups. It is recommended they encourage participation and education of the community on such activities. Doing so can build capacity and engage the community to keep their homes and communities free of mosquito breeding sites. There were some valid critical comments as well as supportive comments on Antigua and Barbuda's Ministry of Health and the Environment's MAW activities Facebook posts. The commenters essentially wanted more sustainability by enforcing fines, having public trash bins available, and to engage the community instead of just having the Ministry staff cleaning beaches. Without community capacity building and public trash bins it is possible the beaches and other community locations will be littered again. Placing public trash bins may require hiring more personnel to remove the trash. Another possibility is to promote a partnership with waste management services to donate the bins and help with trash removal or even enforcing a small littering fine that will cover installation and maintenance costs of garbage bins.

Some recommendations from the 2016 and 2018 reports are still applicable for 2019 (again, there was no 2017 report). In 2018 there was a recommendation to include Town Hall meetings so as to talk with the community and distribute education pamphlets. This too is a way to reach the community to discuss mosquito awareness and VC as well as to inform the needs of the

community and tailor the program. As there are still some arboviral cases being reported in the Caribbean and with dengue's endemo-epidemic cycles, it is important to continue Mosquito Awareness Week efforts towards behavior change and improving source reduction.

MAW 2016's recommendation to develop a strategy for collecting quantitative data on the impact and sustainability of the campaign is still valid. It is recommended to conduct a process and outcomes evaluation by determining indicators of success, finding or creating appropriate measurement tools, then collecting and evaluating data. Recommended measurement tools include key informant interviews of Vector Control officers and/or anyone implementing and operating the activities, interviews with non-participating countries, pre-post surveys of participants, systematic entomologic surveillance, and systematic epidemiologic surveillance. The goal would be to determine barriers and facilitators to program implementation and operation, determine correct knowledge retention, and determining program effectiveness. The evaluation report can be used to identify areas of improvement for future programs.

Regarding the media mentions, PAHO's Assistant to the Country Program Specialist who are located in each country in the Barbados and ECC region were contacted to assist in providing local media mentions of MAW but none returned contact. This would be beneficial to assess the levels of media communications within countries and aid in understanding the programs reach.

Limitations specific to Saint Lucia include low levels of literacy and education level, as determined by a pre/post-test. Additionally, they noticed more engagement when the lectures were in the Kweyol language. As Saint Lucia had three more Constituency Council's to train, there was time to adjust the language and literacy level in the curriculum. Due to not receiving a follow up report, it is not known if changes were made and if so, were they more successful. As previously mentioned, Antigua and Barbuda's Central Board of Health Staff performed the beach clean-up.

58

By not including the community in vector control operations it limits their capacity and the level of sustainability. Further, as there is no requirement on what to report to PAHO, there is no consistency on what information regarding the activities are reported.

It would be beneficial to discuss with non-participating countries to understand their reasons and barriers to MAW participation. Some potential reasons why countries have not participated in 2019's Mosquito Awareness Week may be due to a focus on other diseases and health issues, the perception of low risk to arboviral diseases due to the overall trend of decreasing number of cases over the last year or two, or the time of the year for the activities. As already mentioned, by getting MAW on the MoHs agenda a budget and planning for the event is more likely. A budget can help cover the costs of printing pamphlets and posters, of which PAHO has the infographics listed online available for free. (PAHO, n.d. i) Additionally, MAW being on the agenda can alleviate insufficient human resources or competing priorities for human resource through resource allocation. Another potential barrier is the possibility of a lack of intersectoral collaboration at the higher governmental levels, such as needing the Ministry of Education's involvement along with the MoH in order to plan and implement activities with schools. Along with the recommendation to include VCOs in more activities, it could be that those individuals may need more training on how to engage different target populations, such as children, parents, business owners, and those in the MoH or other ministries.

Further, there were no activities aimed at the tourism industry and there may need to be more training of MoH and/or VCOs to engage tourists along with the need to collaborate with other sectors and other country's governments. Additionally, as a region with a tourism-based economy this would be a large and population to target and as previously mentioned malaria followed by dengue is most diagnosed cause of fever in tourist returning from LMICs worldwide indicating a population that would benefit from MAW activities. (WHO, 2019a; World Travel and Tourism Council, 2019) Moreover, tourist may be coming from arboviral non-endemic areas and thus may not know to perform important prevention methods, such as using mosquito repellent, to wear long sleeves and pants, or to use AC when available or stay in housing with screened windows. To reach this population, educational materials and mosquito repellent can be provided at airports, seaports, car rental locations, hotels, tour agencies, and at major tourist attractions and shops

From all the MAW participating countries, there is no mention of a number of schools and participants in the activities and so there is no way to determine what percentage of the target population has been reached. This information can determined the level of coverage by the activities and where to concentrate efforts in the following years. Lastly, mentioned in the Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 concept note was to conduct a national entomological survey to assess the entomological risk of communities. By doing so, the MoH will be able to determine which areas need to be focused on for MAW activities and guide what activities are planned. This information along with a follow up survey can show the benefits of community engagement in VC and the data may be convincing for communities towards VC sustainability.

6.1 Public Health Recommendations

Arboviral diseases such as dengue, chikungunya, and Zika viruses all contribute to high morbidity in the Caribbean. (Brathwaite, et al., 2012; Paupy, et al., 2009; Webb, 2016) Everyone is at risk to arboviral disease to a varying degree dependent on the region's rainfall, temperature, and environmental sanitation. (Paupy, et al., 2009; WHO, 2019a) Outbreaks from these diseases
also negatively affect economies and families. (Weaver, et al., 2016; WHO, 2019a; Yactayo, et al., 2016) Additionally, these viruses are transmitted by the same domiciliary mosquito with a preference for urban and peri-urban breeding sites. (Klitting, et al., 2018; Ngoagouni, et al., 2015; Paupy, et al., 2009; Powell, et al., 2013; PAHO, n.d. e; WHO, n.d. a) Since the beginning of the 21st century, PAHO and the WHO have developed strategies and frameworks aimed at improving current mosquito prevention and control efforts. Fundamental to the strategy/frameworks is an escape from vertical programs and to include community participation as well as social communication and advocacy in an integrated vector management program. (PAHO, 2001)

Due to the preferences of the Aedes mosquito, the arboviral disease prevalence and potential for outbreaks, and the lack of licensed vaccines available in the Caribbean (except in U.S. and European territories), the WHO, PAHO, and the CDC all recommend vector control for the protection of all populations. More specifically source reduction or environmental management methods is the most effective method with the biggest impact for reducing the number of mosquito breeding sites and thus mosquito population control. (CDC, 2017b; PAHO, 2016a; Paupy, et al., 2009; Webb, 2016; WHO, n.d. a; ECDC, 2016a, 2016b) The domiciliary life of Aedes mosquitoes indicates the need for households to take the responsibility of vector control. Further, the whole community needs to participate in VC since one property not participating in source reduction and VC can sustain mosquitoes and thus disease transmission. (Paupy, et al., 2009; Weaver, et al., 2016) Additionally, it is easy to imagine that if mosquitoes are always prevalent, that people could feel as if VC is impossible to accomplish. Conversely, motivation for mosquito control can also be due to the nuisance of mosquitoes and less due to the concern for acquiring and transmitting arboviral diseases. (Guzman, et al., 2010) Programs such as Mosquito Awareness Week, can be a source of education and capacity building by reaching out and engaging the community as well as

building intersectoral relationships to strengthen and sustain the VC efforts. Moreover, each Caribbean country will have to evaluate what is feasible, practical, and acceptable for their needs, while also understanding continued VC efforts are effective but require sustained messaging, even more so for the time-consuming efforts such as source reduction.

VC includes, but is not limited to, larval source reduction or 'cleanup' campaigns via removing standing water sources around the house, schools, public spaces, cemeteries, and businesses weekly as well as removing unused containers and protecting used containers from becoming mosquito breeding sites. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Paupy, et al., 2009; CDC, 2017b; PAHO, 2016a; WHO, n.d. a) This includes rainwater barrels being protected with appropriate screens. PAHO has created a video, located on their website, on how to properly protect rainwater barrels from becoming mosquito breeding sites. (PAHO, n.d. b) Any water sources that cannot be removed or covered, such as water for livestock and companion animals, should be thoroughly and regularly scrubbed and to not solely rely on biological or chemical control mechanisms. This is because *Aedes* mosquito eggs attach to the container and once the eggs contact water they will hatch. (Powell, et al., 2013; PAHO, 2016a; ECDC, 2016b, WHO, 2019a)

Other forms of vector control includes chemical controls such as larvicides and adulticides. (Guzman, et al., 2010) Adulticides are often used for space spraying or fogging. This method is not sustainable long them and to be most effective the insecticide needs to contact all surfaces. (PAHO, 2001) As such, space spraying typically is best left to use during outbreaks or when the adult mosquito populations are higher due to the failure of larval source reduction. (Paupy, et al., 2009) Although exploring other options before using space spraying is best due to insecticide resistance in *A. aegypti* worldwide. *A. albopictus* is still susceptible to insecticides, but due to their

more diverse larval breeding sites it is more difficult to spray and clean all potential sources. (Hemingway, et al., 2009; Paupy, et al., 2009)

Biological control methods typically work better for mosquito control and prevention than chemical methods and with less risk of mosquitoes developing resistance. Further, chemical controls need to be reapplied appropriately to properly work. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Paupy, et al., 2009) Biological controls include, but not limited to, genetically modified mosquitoes, sterile mosquitoes, Wolbachia infected mosquitoes, and larvivorous fish and copepods. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Paupy, et al., 2009; Simmons, et al., 2012; Ye, et al., 2015) The genetically modified mosquitoes are males that sterilize the wild-type female mosquito population. This method reduces the female's egg output and therefore the size of the next generation. (Wise de Valdez, et al., 2011) Wolbachia is an obligate intercellular bacteria which is introduced into mosquitoes and has been shown to prevent dengue and chikungunya infections, thus preventing the spread of these disease to humans. Further, these mosquitoes can interact with wild-type mosquitoes and spread Wolbachia to the wild-type mosquitoes. (Moreira, et al., 2009; Ye, et al., 2015) The biological control methods still require effectiveness studies in different populations as well as addressing the concern of ethics and risk management. (Paupy, et al., 2009) There has been demonstrated effectiveness in insecticide treated curtains and water container covers in Mexico and Venezuela as well as using dominant lethal gene in mosquitoes, where the offspring with wild-type females result in death. (Kroeger, et al., 2006; Wise de Valdez, et al., 2011) Importantly, biological controls require facilities and expertise and more so for the ones that need to be frequently re-introduced such as the larvivorous fish, copepods, and sterile mosquitoes. (Guzman, et al., 2010) Therefore the importance of knowledge regarding disease epidemiology and entomological monitoring in order to properly allocate resources. (Simmons, et al., 2012) Moreover, with all the control methods, there is the need to educate the public on when and how to use the methods, how to determine which methods are best for each household, school, business, etc., as well as to leave larvivorous fish to do their role in larval control and to not eat or keep the fish as pets.

Environmental management to reduce mosquito breeding sites can be performed at the individual, interpersonal, and community level in the social ecological framework such as source reduction or it can be at the institutional and policy level such as improvements to clean water and proper waste management services. Yet these improvements and changes require huge investments in infrastructure in order to increase the reach of safe water and solid waste disposal. This can be a concern if cost recovery mechanisms are put in place, such as metering water use which might encourage the return to collecting rainwater. (Guzman, et al., 2010) Thus it is important for intersectoral collaboration and for public health officials to work with ministries and civil society on infrastructure development. Even with improved water and sanitation it is still important to participate in other aspects of vector control and protection as behavior changes will aid in achieving long-term control of mosquitoes. (Guzman, et al., 2010)

Health care systems can be stressed due to the unpredictability of outbreaks and developing severe dengue. (Simmons, et al., 2012) As such, it is important for individuals to understand signs and symptoms of arboviral infections and to seek prompt and proper medical attention. Ideally, primary care health professionals and to reserve hospitals for severe cases. The primary care health professionals should be trained on monitoring cases and the facilities should have the capacity for rapid ambulatory response as severe dengue can develop quickly. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Simmons, et al., 2012)

Further assistance in rapid response would be improving early diagnosis and predicting the risk of developing severe dengue. (Simmons, et al., 2012) Thus the need for more specific and

64

sensitive diagnostic methods such as multiplex RT-PCR to detect virologic mono-infections and co-infections, PRNT or IgG ELISA to determine exposure serologically, as well as developing tests for other specific biomarkers of infection. (Ariën, et al., 2018; Guzman, et al., 2010; Kindhauser, et al., 2016; Waggoner, et al., 2016; WHO, 2019e) The tests should be commercially available and be able to be used at the point-of-care. (Guzman, et al., 2010; Sanofi, 2019) Proper training to run and interpret the results is necessary with any new equipment or method and commercially supplying companies offer troubleshooting assistance. Further, primary care facilities as well as hospitals should have the capacity to operate point-of-care diagnostic tests. Diagnostic tests are important for properly identifying the target population for Dengvaxia. (Ariën, et al., 2018; WHO, 2019e; Sanofi, 2019) More specifically, the WHO recommends viral diagnosis of acute dengue as once vaccination becomes more prevalent, serologic diagnosis can increase the false-positive rates. (WHO, 2019e) Sanofi is currently working on a point-of-care serological test that will be high sensitivity, so as to properly identify those with a previous dengue infection, and high specificity, to avoid vaccinating false positives and thus increase the risk of developing severe dengue. (Sanofi, 2019) The WHO also considers it acceptable to have quality hospital records of dengue cases to determine who is eligible for Dengvaxia vaccination. (WHO, 2019e)

As mentioned above, there is a passive system already in place for the Americas region where Ministries of Health submit the numbers for suspected, confirmed, and imported cases to PAHO which is then reported back out via PLISA. This surveillance data is by country and by week. (PAHO, n.d. f) By having a common location for all the county data, there is a standardized case definition which enhances the ability for data sharing. Yet, as the PLISA data is aggregate, it makes it difficult to know where to prioritize finite resources within a country, thus higher resolution data is more desirable. Further, as mentioned above countries do not have incentive to report cases for fear of losing tourists. To increase reliability of the data would mean increasing costs by making the system active surveillance or by having a regional requirement for accurate data submission to PAHO. A resource already available is CARPHA, a regional organization where Caribbean countries pool resources for the benefit of all their member states, offers capacity building in numerous areas including surveillance data and GIS (Geographic Information System). (CARPHA, n.d. a) PAHO is another already available resource, which acts in an advisory role and also provides some financial assistance.

In order to understand where increased efforts are needed there needs to be a strong surveillance system in use. The improved diagnostics and a strong surveillance system are important due to the prevalence of numerous arboviral diseases with similar clinical symptoms in the region. (WHO, 2019e) Additionally, as these arboviral diseases have asymptomatic cases which leads to silent transmission and allows for accelerated disease transmission and geographical spread. Thus, necessitating a strong surveillance system that can aid in rapid identification and response to outbreaks. (Duong, et al., 2015; Nguyet, et al., 2013) Moreover, long-term, quality epidemiologic data is important for understanding if interventions are effective and more so as dengue has an endemo-epidemic cycle with higher cross-protection occurring after outbreaks. (Clapham, et al., 2017) For the current dengue vaccine, Dengvaxia, epidemiologic data can help determine which age range each country should target based on previous exposures so as to minimize risk of severe dengue cases. The surveillance systems also can aid in determining vaccination program impact, duration of immunological protection, and evaluating the vaccination schedule (as 3 doses can be a barrier for some individuals). (WHO, 2019e) Most important, regarding the dengue vaccine is the development of a safe, effective, and affordable vaccine that does not depend on known serostatus and produces life-long immunity to all four serotypes in one dose.

All aspects of IVM, as described above, require good and transparent communication. Communication and data can aid in setting up intersectoral collaboration, advocating to ministries and the community the importance of VC, and for educational purposes. There needs to be a recognition of the significance of arboviral diseases leading to the commitment to IVM practices including the collaboration with other countries. Increased ministerial support includes using available tools, such as GIS and larvicides, as well as supporting research for other VC practices, improving organization of services, and making smart partnerships to accomplish IVM practices. (Guzman, et al., 2010) For Dengvaxia, it is important for citizens to know, from their ministers, the vaccination process, associated vaccination risks, and that the continuation of VC practices and prevention methods are still vital regardless of vaccination status. Further, individuals need to have confidence in their country's national vaccination programs and accept the vaccine's benefits and risks. If the risks are not accepted, the cases of severe dengue can erode the public's acceptation of the dengue vaccine and other vaccines in the program. (WHO, 2019e) The WHO recommends, ministries find ways to cover the cost of the any arboviral vaccine and serologic tests prior to Dengvaxia inoculation and not at the expense of other public health programs, in order to decrease any potential inequities. (WHO, 2019e) Other forms of risk communication messaging can include printed materials and radio messages aimed at airports, seaports, and densely populated areas so as to reach tourists and locals. (Simmons, et al., 2012) As mentioned above, PAHO has communication materials on the Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week website. These materials are free to use in print and on social media. Additionally it is important to know the target audience's preferred method of communication to increase reach as well as knowledge gaps. This

information can come from KAP (knowledge, attitudes, and practices) studies. KAP studies can also inform on program participant's retention of educational key points to aid in improving subsequent programs and educational materials.

Specifically for Zika, there needs to be messaging, education, and access to family planning due to sexual transmission in addition to messaging and education for preventing mosquito transmission. (CDC, 2017c) It is important for health care providers in addition to VCO/EHOs to communicate the risks and prevention methods to women and their partners who are pregnant or trying to get pregnant. (WHO, 2018b) Thus, all pregnant women, women trying to get pregnant, and their partners should avoid areas known to have Zika or take the necessary steps to avoid being bitten by mosquitoes, including sleeping under mosquito nets when sleeping during the day. In addition, during pregnancy women should abstain from intercourse or using a condom. Those trying to conceive and have traveled to ZIKV endemic areas should wait the appropriate length of time for a presumptive infection to be cleared; women should wait two months and men, three months. (CDC, 2017c; WHO, 2018b, 2019f) Other general protective measures to prevent being bitten by mosquitoes and prevent disease transmission includes promoting the use of personal protective measures such as wearing long sleeves and pants, using mosquito repellent, and using screens on windows and doors or using AC if available. (Paupy, et al., 2009; CDC, 2017b; PAHO, n.d. e)

Due to the regional history of failed interventions to remove or inhibit the spread of mosquitoes, even when vaccines are readily available, there will still be a great need for continued and vigilant vector management, timely diagnosis, and epidemiologic and entomologic surveillance to protect all populations by reducing morbidity and mortality. (PAHO, 2016d; Webb, 2016) It is necessary to have ministerial support and an intersectoral approach with the appropriate

68

ministries, health care professionals, and public health professionals collaborating on developing plans and resource allocation for handling concomitant arboviral outbreaks, seasonal illnesses, and natural disasters. Doing so would require quality, higher resolution surveillance data with proper educational materials and capacity building for the community.

Appendix A 2019 Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week Media Mentions

- <u>https://theanguillian.com/2019/05/mosquito-awareness-week-vector-control-meets-the-public/</u> (Anguilla)
- <u>https://www.facebook.com/investingforwellness/</u> (Antigua and Barbuda)
- <u>https://abstvradio.com/mosquito-awareness-week-a-success/</u> (Antigua and Barbuda)
- <u>https://www.nationnews.com/nationnews/news/239638/mosquito-awareness</u> (Barbados)
- <u>https://m.facebook.com/story.php?story_fbid=10213881638130758&id=1102627985&sf</u> <u>nsn=mo&s=100035315014849&w=n</u> (BVI)
- <u>https://www.nationnews.com/nationnews/news/239710/carpha-fight-bite</u> (CARPHA's article in Barbados)
- <u>http://drealfmgrenada.com/index.php/2019/05/14/carpha-urges-the-region-to-deal-</u> <u>seriously-to-eradicate-mosquitoes/</u> (same CARPHA article in Grenada)
- <u>https://www.dominicavibes.dm/news-257939/</u> (Dominica)
- <u>https://kairifm.com/dominica-observes-mosquito-awareness-week-2019/</u> (Dominica)
- <u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/1QKNqYCD1_n_6ATILifSMbBVUMsSmGrAy/view</u> (Saint Vincent and the Grenadines)

Bibliography

- Abbink, P., Stephenson, K. E., & Barouch, D. H. (2018). Zika virus vaccines. Nature reviews. Microbiology, 16(10), 594–600. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0039-7
- Akahata, W., Yang, Z. Y., Andersen, H., Sun, S., Holdaway, H. A., Kong, W. P., Lewis, M. G., Higgs, S., Rossmann, M. G., Rao, S., & Nabel, G. J. (2010). A virus-like particle vaccine for epidemic Chikungunya virus protects nonhuman primates against infection. *Nature medicine*, 16(3), 334–338.
- Ariën, K. K., & Wilder-Smith, A. (2018). Dengue vaccine: reliably determining previous exposure. *The Lancet. Global health*, 6(8), e830–e831. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30295-X
- Arragain, L., Dupont-Rouzeyrol, M., O'Connor, O., Sigur, N., Grangeon, J. P., Huguon, E., Dechanet, C., Cazorla, C., Gourinat, A. C., & Descloux, E. (2017). Vertical Transmission of Dengue Virus in the Peripartum Period and Viral Kinetics in Newborns and Breast Milk: New Data. *Journal of the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society*, 6(4), 324–331. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpids/piw058
- Barouch, D. H., Thomas, S. J., & Michael, N. L. (2017). Prospects for a Zika Virus Vaccine. *Immunity*, 46(2), 176–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.005
- Barrows, N. J., Campos, R. K., Powell, S. T., Prasanth, K. R., Schott-Lerner, G., Soto-Acosta, R., Galarza-Muñoz, G., McGrath, E. L., Urrabaz-Garza, R., Gao, J., Wu, P., Menon, R., Saade, G., Fernandez-Salas, I., Rossi, S. L., Vasilakis, N., Routh, A., Bradrick, S. S., & Garcia-Blanco, M. A. (2016). A Screen of FDA-Approved Drugs for Inhibitors of Zika Virus Infection. *Cell host & microbe*, 20(2), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.004
- Basurko, C., Matheus, S., Hildéral, H., Everhard, S., Restrepo, M., Cuadro-Alvarez, E., Lambert, V., Boukhari, R., Duvernois, J. P., Favre, A., Nacher, M., & Carles, G. (2018). Estimating the Risk of Vertical Transmission of Dengue: A Prospective Study. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 98(6), 1826–1832. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.16-0794
- Beckett, C. G., Tjaden, J., Burgess, T., Danko, J. R., Tamminga, C., Simmons, M., Wu, S. J., Sun, P., Kochel, T., Raviprakash, K., Hayes, C. G., & Porter, K. R. (2011). Evaluation of a prototype dengue-1 DNA vaccine in a Phase 1 clinical trial. *Vaccine*, 29(5), 960–968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.11.050
- Brandler, S., Ruffié, C., Combredet, C., Brault, J. B., Najburg, V., Prevost, M. C., Habel, A., Tauber, E., Desprès, P., & Tangy, F. (2013). A recombinant measles vaccine expressing

chikungunya virus-like particles is strongly immunogenic and protects mice from lethal challenge with chikungunya virus. *Vaccine*, *31*(36), 3718–3725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.05.086

- Brandler, S., Ruffie, C., Najburg, V., Frenkiel, M. P., Bedouelle, H., Desprès, P., & Tangy, F. (2010). Pediatric measles vaccine expressing a dengue tetravalent antigen elicits neutralizing antibodies against all four dengue viruses. *Vaccine*, 28(41), 6730–6739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.07.073
- Brathwaite Dick, O., San Martín, J. L., Montoya, R. H., del Diego, J., Zambrano, B., & Dayan, G.
 H. (2012). The history of dengue outbreaks in the Americas. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 87(4), 584–593. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0770
- Calisher, C. H., Karabatsos, N., Dalrymple, J. M., Shope, R. E., Porterfield, J. S., Westaway, E. G., & Brandt, W. E. (1989). Antigenic relationships between flaviviruses as determined by cross-neutralization tests with polyclonal antisera. *The Journal of general virology*, 70 (Pt 1), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-70-1-37
- Capeding, M. R., Tran, N. H., Hadinegoro, S. R., Ismail, H. I., Chotpitayasunondh, T., Chua, M. N., Luong, C. Q., Rusmil, K., Wirawan, D. N., Nallusamy, R., Pitisuttithum, P., Thisyakorn, U., Yoon, I. K., van der Vliet, D., Langevin, E., Laot, T., Hutagalung, Y., Frago, C., Boaz, M., Wartel, T. A., ... CYD14 Study Group (2014). Clinical efficacy and safety of a novel tetravalent dengue vaccine in healthy children in Asia: a phase 3, randomised, observer-masked, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 384(9951), 1358–1365. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61060-6
- Caribbean Community (CARICOM). (May 9, 2016). Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week launched to raise awareness on preventing Zika. Retrieved from <u>https://caricom.org/communications/view/caribbean-mosquito-awareness-week-</u> launched-to-raise-awareness-on-preventing-zika
- Caribbean Public Health Agency (CARPHA). (May 9, 2019). CARPHA: We need to be more engaged in our battle against mosquito borne diseases. Retrieved from <u>http://carpha.org/articles/ArticleType/ArticleView/ArticleID/206</u>
- CARPHA. (n.d.). Mosquito Awareness Week. Retrieved June 25, 2019, from <u>http://mosquitoawareness.carpha.org</u>
- CARPHA. (n.d. a). Overview. Retrieved June 5, 2020, from https://carpha.org/What-We-Do/VBD/Overview
- CARPHA. (May 8, 2017). Total community involvement essential to fighting the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. Retrieved from <u>http://carpha.org/articles/ArticleType/ArticleView/ArticleID/146</u>

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (May 31, 2017a). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel-Chikungunya. Retrieved from <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-</u> <u>travel/chikungunya</u>
- CDC. (May 31, 2017b). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel- Dengue. Retrieved from <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/dengue</u>
- CDC. (June 12, 2017). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel- Malaria. Retrieved from https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/malaria
- CDC. (March 22, 2018). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel- Yellow fever. Retrieved from <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/yellow-fever</u>
- CDC. (April 25, 2019a). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel- Yellow Fever Vaccine & Malaria Prophylaxis Information, by Country. Retrieved from https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/yellow-fever-malaria-information-by-country
- CDC. (May 31, 2017c). Chapter 3 Infectious diseases related to travel- Zika. Retrieved from https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2018/infectious-diseases-related-to-travel/zika
- CDC. (June 18, 2019b). Health information for travelers to Jamaica- Traveler view. Retrieved July 17, 2019, from https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/destinations/traveler/none/jamaica?s_cid=ncezid-dgmq-travel-single-001
- Chang, L. J., Dowd, K. A., Mendoza, F. H., Saunders, J. G., Sitar, S., Plummer, S. H., Yamshchikov, G., Sarwar, U. N., Hu, Z., Enama, M. E., Bailer, R. T., Koup, R. A., Schwartz, R. M., Akahata, W., Nabel, G. J., Mascola, J. R., Pierson, T. C., Graham, B. S., Ledgerwood, J. E., & VRC 311 Study Team (2014). Safety and tolerability of chikungunya virus-like particle vaccine in healthy adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 384(9959), 2046–2052. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61185-5
- Clapham, H. E., Cummings, D., & Johansson, M. A. (2017). Immune status alters the probability of apparent illness due to dengue virus infection: Evidence from a pooled analysis across multiple cohort and cluster studies. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, *11*(9), e0005926.
- Couderc, T., Khandoudi, N., Grandadam, M., Visse, C., Gangneux, N., Bagot, S., Prost, J. F., & Lecuit, M. (2009). Prophylaxis and therapy for Chikungunya virus infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 200(4), 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1086/600381

- Dejnirattisai, W., Supasa, P., Wongwiwat, W., Rouvinski, A., Barba-Spaeth, G., Duangchinda, T., Sakuntabhai, A., Cao-Lormeau, V. M., Malasit, P., Rey, F. A., Mongkolsapaya, J., & Screaton, G. R. (2016). Dengue virus sero-cross-reactivity drives antibody-dependent enhancement of infection with zika virus. *Nature immunology*, 17(9), 1102–1108. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3515
- Delatte, H., Desvars, A., Bouétard, A., Bord, S., Gimonneau, G., Vourc'h, G., & Fontenille, D. (2010). Blood-feeding behavior of Aedes albopictus, a vector of Chikungunya on La Réunion. Vector borne and zoonotic diseases (Larchmont, N.Y.), 10(3), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2009.0026
- Deng, S. Q., Yang, X., Wei, Y., Chen, J. T., Wang, X. J., & Peng, H. J. (2020). A Review on Dengue Vaccine Development. Vaccines, 8(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8010063
- de Oliveira, W. K., de França, G., Carmo, E. H., Duncan, B. B., de Souza Kuchenbecker, R., & Schmidt, M. I. (2017). Infection-related microcephaly after the 2015 and 2016 Zika virus outbreaks in Brazil: a surveillance-based analysis. *Lancet (London, England)*, *390*(10097), 861–870.
- Desprès, P., Combredet, C., Frenkiel, M. P., Lorin, C., Brahic, M., & Tangy, F. (2005). Live measles vaccine expressing the secreted form of the West Nile virus envelope glycoprotein protects against West Nile virus encephalitis. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 191(2), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1086/426824
- Duong, V., Lambrechts, L., Paul, R. E., Ly, S., Lay, R. S., Long, K. C., Huy, R., Tarantola, A., Scott, T. W., Sakuntabhai, A., & Buchy, P. (2015). Asymptomatic humans transmit dengue virus to mosquitoes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 112(47), 14688–14693. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1508114112
- Edelman, R., Tacket, C. O., Wasserman, S. S., Bodison, S. A., Perry, J. G., & Mangiafico, J. A. (2000). Phase II safety and immunogenicity study of live chikungunya virus vaccine TSI-GSD-218. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 62(6), 681–685. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2000.62.681
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). (December 20, 2016a). *Aedes aegypti*- Factsheet for experts. Retrieved July 18, 2019, from <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/disease-vectors/facts/mosquito-factsheets/aedes-aegypti#C4</u>
- ECDC. (December 20, 2016b). *Aedes albopictus* Factsheet for experts. Retrieved July 18, 2019, from <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/disease-vectors/facts/mosquito-factsheets/aedes-albopictus#C5</u>
- ECDC. (n.d.). Factsheet about Chikungunya. Retrieved July 9, 2019, from <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/chikungunya/facts/factsheet</u>

- Felix, A. C., Souza, N., Figueiredo, W. M., Costa, A. A., Inenami, M., da Silva, R., Levi, J. E., Pannuti, C. S., & Romano, C. M. (2017). Cross reactivity of commercial anti-dengue immunoassays in patients with acute Zika virus infection. *Journal of medical virology*, 89(8), 1477–1479. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.24789
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). (2015). Product Development Under the Animal Rule. Guidance for Industry. [PDF file] Retrieved from https://www.fda.gov/ downloads/drugs/guidances/ucm399217.pdf
- FDA. (2020). Package Insert Dengvaxia. Retrieved from https://www.fda.gov/media/124379/download
- Foy, B. D., Kobylinski, K. C., Chilson Foy, J. L., Blitvich, B. J., Travassos da Rosa, A., Haddow, A. D., Lanciotti, R. S., & Tesh, R. B. (2011). Probable non-vector-borne transmission of Zika virus, Colorado, USA. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 17(5), 880–882. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1705.101939
- Gaudinski, M. R., Houser, K. V., Morabito, K. M., Hu, Z., Yamshchikov, G., Rothwell, R. S., Berkowitz, N., Mendoza, F., Saunders, J. G., Novik, L., Hendel, C. S., Holman, L. A., Gordon, I. J., Cox, J. H., Edupuganti, S., McArthur, M. A., Rouphael, N. G., Lyke, K. E., Cummings, G. E., Sitar, S., ... VRC 320 study teams (2018). Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of two Zika virus DNA vaccine candidates in healthy adults: randomised, open-label, phase 1 clinical trials. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10120), 552–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33105-7
- George, S. L., Wong, M. A., Dube, T. J., Boroughs, K. L., Stovall, J. L., Luy, B. E., Haller, A. A., Osorio, J. E., Eggemeyer, L. M., Irby-Moore, S., Frey, S. E., Huang, C. Y., & Stinchcomb, D. T. (2015). Safety and Immunogenicity of a Live Attenuated Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine Candidate in Flavivirus-Naive Adults: A Randomized, Double-Blinded Phase 1 Clinical Trial. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 212(7), 1032–1041. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv179
- Goo, L., Dowd, K. A., Lin, T. Y., Mascola, J. R., Graham, B. S., Ledgerwood, J. E., & Pierson, T. C. (2016). A Virus-Like Particle Vaccine Elicits Broad Neutralizing Antibody Responses in Humans to All Chikungunya Virus Genotypes. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 214(10), 1487–1491.
- Gregory, C. J., Oduyebo, T., Brault, A. C., Brooks, J. T., Chung, K. W., Hills, S., Kuehnert, M. J., Mead, P., Meaney-Delman, D., Rabe, I., Staples, E., & Petersen, L. R. (2017). Modes of Transmission of Zika Virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 216(suppl_10), S875– S883. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jix396
- Grossi-Soyster, E. N., & LaBeaud, A. D. (2017). Clinical aspects of Zika virus. *Current opinion in pediatrics*, 29(1), 102–106. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.00000000000449

- Guy, B., Guirakhoo, F., Barban, V., Higgs, S., Monath, T. P., & Lang, J. (2010). Preclinical and clinical development of YFV 17D-based chimeric vaccines against dengue, West Nile and Japanese encephalitis viruses. *Vaccine*, 28(3), 632–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.09.098
- Guy, B., Noriega, F., Ochiai, R. L., L'azou, M., Delore, V., Skipetrova, A., Verdier, F., Coudeville, L., Savarino, S., & Jackson, N. (2017). A recombinant live attenuated tetravalent vaccine for the prevention of dengue. *Expert review of vaccines*, 16(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2017.1335201
- Guzman, M. G., Halstead, S. B., Artsob, H., Buchy, P., Farrar, J., Gubler, D. J., Hunsperger, E., Kroeger, A., Margolis, H. S., Martínez, E., Nathan, M. B., Pelegrino, J. L., Simmons, C., Yoksan, S., & Peeling, R. W. (2010). Dengue: a continuing global threat. *Nature reviews*. *Microbiology*, 8(12 Suppl), S7–S16. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2460
- Hadinegoro, S. R., Arredondo-García, J. L., Capeding, M. R., Deseda, C., Chotpitayasunondh, T., Dietze, R., Muhammad Ismail, H. I., Reynales, H., Limkittikul, K., Rivera-Medina, D. M., Tran, H. N., Bouckenooghe, A., Chansinghakul, D., Cortés, M., Fanouillere, K., Forrat, R., Frago, C., Gailhardou, S., Jackson, N., Noriega, F., ... CYD-TDV Dengue Vaccine Working Group (2015). Efficacy and Long-Term Safety of a Dengue Vaccine in Regions of Endemic Disease. *The New England journal of medicine*, 373(13), 1195–1206. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1506223
- Harrison, V. R., Binn, L. N., & Randall, R. (1967). Comparative immunogenicities of chikungunya vaccines prepared in avian and mammalian tissues. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 16(6), 786–791.
- Hawley W. A. (1988). The biology of Aedes albopictus. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association. Supplement*, 1, 1–39.
- Hemingway, J., Hawkes, N. J., McCarroll, L., & Ranson, H. (2004). The molecular basis of insecticide resistance in mosquitoes. *Insect biochemistry and molecular biology*, 34(7), 653–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibmb.2004.03.018
- Henao-Restrepo, A. M., Longini, I. M., Egger, M., Dean, N. E., Edmunds, W. J., Camacho, A., Carroll, M. W., Doumbia, M., Draguez, B., Duraffour, S., Enwere, G., Grais, R., Gunther, S., Hossmann, S., Kondé, M. K., Kone, S., Kuisma, E., Levine, M. M., Mandal, S., Norheim, G., ... Røttingen, J. A. (2015). Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine expressing Ebola surface glycoprotein: interim results from the Guinea ring vaccination cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 386(9996), 857–866. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61117-5
- Hoke, C. H., Jr, Pace-Templeton, J., Pittman, P., Malinoski, F. J., Gibbs, P., Ulderich, T., Mathers, M., Fogtman, B., Glass, P., & Vaughn, D. W. (2012). US Military contributions to the global response to pandemic chikungunya. *Vaccine*, 30(47), 6713–6720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.08.025

- Juliano, S. A., Lounibos, L. P., & O'Meara, G. F. (2004). A field test for competitive effects of Aedes albopictus on A. aegypti in South Florida: differences between sites of coexistence and exclusion?. *Oecologia*, 139(4), 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1532-4
- Kindhauser, M., Allen, T., Frank, V., Santhana, R., & Dye, C. (2016). Zika: the origin and spread of a mosquito-borne virus. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 2016; 94:675-686C doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.16.171082
- Kirkpatrick, B. D., Durbin, A. P., Pierce, K. K., Carmolli, M. P., Tibery, C. M., Grier, P. L., Hynes, N., Diehl, S. A., Elwood, D., Jarvis, A. P., Sabundayo, B. P., Lyon, C. E., Larsson, C. J., Jo, M., Lovchik, J. M., Luke, C. J., Walsh, M. C., Fraser, E. A., Subbarao, K., & Whitehead, S. S. (2015). Robust and Balanced Immune Responses to All 4 Dengue Virus Serotypes Following Administration of a Single Dose of a Live Attenuated Tetravalent Dengue Vaccine to Healthy, Flavivirus-Naive Adults. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 212(5), 702–710. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv082
- Kirkpatrick, B. D., Whitehead, S. S., Pierce, K. K., Tibery, C. M., Grier, P. L., Hynes, N. A., Larsson, C. J., Sabundayo, B. P., Talaat, K. R., Janiak, A., Carmolli, M. P., Luke, C. J., Diehl, S. A., & Durbin, A. P. (2016). The live attenuated dengue vaccine TV003 elicits complete protection against dengue in a human challenge model. *Science translational medicine*, 8(330), 330ra36. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf1517
- Kitaoka M. (1967). Japanese encephalitis vaccine including a preliminary report on dengue fever and Chikungunya vaccines. *Japanese journal of medical science & biology*, 20 Suppl, 41– 56.
- Klitting, R., Gould, E. A., Paupy, C., & de Lamballerie, X. (2018). What Does the Future Hold for Yellow Fever Virus? (I). *Genes*, 9(6), 291. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9060291
- Kroeger, A., Lenhart, A., Ochoa, M., Villegas, E., Levy, M., Alexander, N., & McCall, P. J. (2006). Effective control of dengue vectors with curtains and water container covers treated with insecticide in Mexico and Venezuela: cluster randomised trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 332(7552), 1247–1252. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.332.7552.1247
- Krow-Lucal, E. R., de Andrade, M. R., Cananéa, J., Moore, C. A., Leite, P. L., Biggerstaff, B. J., Cabral, C. M., Itoh, M., Percio, J., Wada, M. Y., Powers, A. M., Barbosa, A., Abath, R. B., Staples, J. E., Coelho, G. E., & Paraíba Microcephaly Work Group (2018). Association and birth prevalence of microcephaly attributable to Zika virus infection among infants in Paraíba, Brazil, in 2015-16: a case-control study. *The Lancet. Child & adolescent health*, 2(3), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30020-8
- Mastrangelo, E., Pezzullo, M., De Burghgraeve, T., Kaptein, S., Pastorino, B., Dallmeier, K., de Lamballerie, X., Neyts, J., Hanson, A. M., Frick, D. N., Bolognesi, M., & Milani, M. (2012). Ivermectin is a potent inhibitor of flavivirus replication specifically targeting NS3

helicase activity: new prospects for an old drug. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, 67(8), 1884–1894. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dks147

- Manning, J., Oliveira, F., Coutinho-Abreu, I., Herbert, S., ... Memoli, M. (2020). Safety and immunogenicity of a mosquito saliva peptide-based vaccine: a randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blinded, phase 1 trial. *The Lancet*. Doi: https://doi.org/10/1016/S0140-6736(20)31048-5
- Manoff, S. B., George, S. L., Bett, A. J., Yelmene, M. L., Dhanasekaran, G., Eggemeyer, L., Sausser, M. L., Dubey, S. A., Casimiro, D. R., Clements, D. E., Martyak, T., Pai, V., Parks, D. E., & Coller, B. A. (2015). Preclinical and clinical development of a dengue recombinant subunit vaccine. *Vaccine*, *33*(50), 7126–7134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.09.101
- McClain, D., Pittman, P., Ramsburg, H., Nelson, G., Rossi, C., Mangiafico, J., Schmaljohn, A., Malinoski, F. (1998). Immunologic interference from sequential administration of live attenuated alphavirus vaccines. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 177:634–641. https://doi.org/10.1086/514240.
- Mehta R, Soares CN, Medialdea-Carrera R, Ellul M, da Silva MTT, et al. (2018) The spectrum of neurological disease associated with Zika and chikungunya viruses in adults in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: A case series. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases 12*(2): e0006212. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006212
- Modjarrad, K., Lin, L., George, S. L., Stephenson, K. E., Eckels, K. H., De La Barrera, R. A., Jarman, R. G., Sondergaard, E., Tennant, J., Ansel, J. L., Mills, K., Koren, M., Robb, M. L., Barrett, J., Thompson, J., Kosel, A. E., Dawson, P., Hale, A., Tan, C. S., Walsh, S. R., ... Michael, N. L. (2018). Preliminary aggregate safety and immunogenicity results from three trials of a purified inactivated Zika virus vaccine candidate: phase 1, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10120), 563–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33106-9
- Moreira, L. A., Iturbe-Ormaetxe, I., Jeffery, J. A., Lu, G., Pyke, A. T., Hedges, L. M., Rocha, B. C., Hall-Mendelin, S., Day, A., Riegler, M., Hugo, L. E., Johnson, K. N., Kay, B. H., McGraw, E. A., van den Hurk, A. F., Ryan, P. A., & O'Neill, S. L. (2009). A Wolbachia symbiont in Aedes aegypti limits infection with dengue, Chikungunya, and Plasmodium. *Cell*, 139(7), 1268–1278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.042
- Ngoagouni, C., Kamgang, B., Nakouné, E., Paupy, C., & Kazanji, M. (2015). Invasion of *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) into central Africa: what consequences for emerging diseases?. *Parasites and Vectors*, 8, 191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-015-0808-3</u>
- Nguyet, M. N., Duong, T. H., Trung, V. T., Nguyen, T. H., Tran, C. N., Long, V. T., Dui, I., Nguyen, H. L., Farrar, J. J., Holmes, E. C., Rabaa, M. A., Bryant, J. E., Nguyen, T. T., Nguyen, H. T., Nguyen, L. T., Pham, M. P., Nguyen, H. T., Luong, T. T., Wills, B., Nguyen, C. V., ... Simmons, C. P. (2013). Host and viral features of human dengue cases

shape the population of infected and infectious Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(22), 9072–9077. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1303395110

- National Institutes of Health (NIH). (2017). Ethical Considerations for Zika Virus Human Challenge Trials. [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.niaid.nih.gov/sites/ default/files/EthicsZikaHumanChallengeStudiesReport2017.pdf
- Osorio, J. E., Partidos, C. D., Wallace, D., & Stinchcomb, D. T. (2015). Development of a recombinant, chimeric tetravalent dengue vaccine candidate. *Vaccine*, *33*(50), 7112–7120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.11.022
- Osorio, J. E., Velez, I. D., Thomson, C., Lopez, L., Jimenez, A., Haller, A. A., Silengo, S., Scott, J., Boroughs, K. L., Stovall, J. L., Luy, B. E., Arguello, J., Beatty, M. E., Santangelo, J., Gordon, G. S., Huang, C. Y., & Stinchcomb, D. T. (2014). Safety and immunogenicity of a recombinant live attenuated tetravalent dengue vaccine (DENVax) in flavivirus-naive healthy adults in Colombia: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 1 study. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases*, 14(9), 830–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70811-4
- Pan American Health Organization/ World Health Organization (PAHO). (n.d. a). Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week 2017. Retrieved June 25, 2019, from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=14319:cde-</u> <u>caribbean-mosquito-awareness-week-2017&Itemid=72277&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (n.d. b). Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week 2018. Retrieved June 25, 2019, from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=15243:carib_bean-mosquito-awareness-week-2018&Itemid=72527&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (n.d. c). Caribbean Mosquito Awareness Week 2019. Retrieved June 25, 2019, from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=12355:cde-mosquito-awareness-week&Itemid=42087&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (n.d. d). Chikungunya: Data, maps, and statistics. Retrieved from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php%3Foption%3Dcom_topics%26view%3Drdmore%26</u> <u>cid%3D5927%26item%3Dchikungunya%26type%3Dstatistics%26Itemid%3D40931%26</u> <u>lang%3Den</u>
- PAHO. (2018a). Countries and territories of the Americas with confirmed autochthonous cases of Zika virus (vector-borne transmission), 2015-2017 - Data as of 21 December 2017 2:00 PM EST. Retrieved from <u>http://ais.paho.org/phip/viz/ed_zika_countrymap.asp</u>
- PAHO. (2001). Dengue prevention and control. 43rd Directing Council, 53rd Session of the Regional Committee; Washington, DC. September 24–28, 2001. Resolution CD43.R4.
 [PDF file] Retrieved from <u>http://www1.paho.org/english/gov/cd/cd43_12-e.pdf</u>
- PAHO. (n.d. e). Factsheet Chikungunya. Retrieved June 27, 2019, from

https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=8303:2013hoja-informativa-chikungunya&Itemid=40023&lang=en

- PAHO. (n.d. f). Health information for the Americas. Retrieved from <u>https://www.paho.org/data/index.php/en/mnu-topics.html</u>
- PAHO. (n.d. g). Integrated management strategy for dengue prevention and control. Retrieved July 19, 2019, from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=4501:2010-</u> <u>dengue-estrategia-gestion-integrada-prevencion-control-dengue&Itemid=41038&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (2016a). Key messages for individuals and families regarding surveillance and control of *Aedes aegypti*: transmitter of dengue, chikungunya, Zika and other arbovirus diseases in the Americas. [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.paho.org/hq/dmdocuments/2016/2016-cha-key-messages-aedes-aegypti.pdf
- PAHO. (n.d. h). Malaria: General information. Retrieved June 28, 2019, from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=2573:2010-general-information-malaria&Itemid=2060&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (April 15, 2019). Mosquito Awareness Week 2019- Concept Note. [PDF file]. Retrieved from https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&view=download&alias=4827 3-mosquito-awareness-week-2019-concept-note&category_slug=maw-1&Itemid=270&lang=en
- PAHO. (2018b). Plan of action on entomology and vector control 2018-2023. 56th Directing Council, 70th Session of the Regional Committee; Washington, DC. September 23-27, 2018. Provisional Agenda Item 4.7. CD56/11. [PDF file]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&view=download&category_sl</u> <u>ug=56-directing-council-english-9964&alias=45774-cd56-11-e-poa-entomology-774&Itemid=270&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (2016b). Timeline of the emergence of Zika virus in the Americas, April 2016. Washington, D.C.: PAHO/WHO. Retrieved from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=11959:timeli</u> <u>ne-of-emergence-of-zika-virus-in-the-americas&Itemid=41711&lang=en</u>
- PAHO. (2016c). Report on the situation of Malaria in the Americas, 2014. [PDF file]. Retrieved from <u>http://iris.paho.org/xmlui/handle/123456789/31450</u>
- PAHO. (2017). Report on the situation of Malaria in the Americas 2017. [PDF file]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&view=download&category_s</u> <u>lug=statistics-data-maps-8109&alias=48335-situation-of-malaria-in-the-region-of-the-americas-2017&Itemid=270&lang=en</u>

- PAHO. (2016d). Strategy for arboviral disease prevention and control. 55th Directing Council, 68th Session of the Regional Committee; Washington, DC. September 26-30, 2016. Provisional Agenda Item 4.12. CD55/16. [PDF file]. Retrieved from <u>http://iris.paho.org/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/31430/CD55-16-</u>e.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- PAHO. (n.d. i)Mosquito Awareness Week 2019 Communication Materials. Retrieved June 5, 2020 from https://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=14614:camp aigns-for-mosquito-awareness-2019&Itemid=72387&lang=en
- Paupy, C., Delatte, H., Bagny, L., Corbel, V., Fontenille, D. (2009). Aedes albopictus, an arbovirus vector: from the darkness to the light. *Microbes and Infections*, 11(14-15):1177-1185. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2009.05.005
- Paupy, C., Ollomo, B., Kamgang, B., Moutailler, S., Rousset, D., Demanou, M., Hervé, J., Leroy, E., and Simard, F. (2010). Comparative Role of Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti in the emergence of dengue and chikungunya in Central Republic of Africa. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, 10(3):259-266. http://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2009.0005
- Pingen, M., Bryden, S. R., Pondeville, E., Schnettler, E., Kohl, A., Merits, A., Fazakerley, J. K., Graham, G. J., & McKimmie, C. S. (2016). Host Inflammatory Response to Mosquito Bites Enhances the Severity of Arbovirus Infection. *Immunity*, 44(6), 1455–1469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.002
- Porter, K. R., Ewing, D., Chen, L., Wu, S. J., Hayes, C. G., Ferrari, M., Teneza-Mora, N., & Raviprakash, K. (2012). Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of a vaxfectin-adjuvanted tetravalent dengue DNA vaccine. *Vaccine*, 30(2), 336–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.10.085
- Powell, J., & Tabachnick, W. (2013). History of domestication and spread of *Aedes aegypti* A Review. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 108(Suppl. 1), 11-17. https://doi.org/10.1590/0074-0276130395
- Powers, A. M., Brault, A. C., Tesh, R. B., & Weaver, S. C. (2000). Re-emergence of Chikungunya and O'nyong-nyong viruses: evidence for distinct geographical lineages and distant evolutionary relationships. *The Journal of general virology*, 81(Pt 2), 471–479. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-81-2-471
- Powers A. M. (2017). Vaccine and Therapeutic Options To Control Chikungunya Virus. Clinical microbiology reviews, 31(1), e00104-16. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00104-16
- Ramsauer, K., Schwameis, M., Firbas, C., Müllner, M., Putnak, R. J., Thomas, S. J., Desprès, P., Tauber, E., Jilma, B., & Tangy, F. (2015). Immunogenicity, safety, and tolerability of a recombinant measles-virus-based chikungunya vaccine: a randomised, double-blind,

placebo-controlled, active-comparator, first-in-man trial. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases*, 15(5), 519–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)70043-5

- Retallack, H., Di Lullo, E., Arias, C., Knopp, K. A., Laurie, M. T., Sandoval-Espinosa, C., Mancia Leon, W. R., Krencik, R., Ullian, E. M., Spatazza, J., Pollen, A. A., Mandel-Brehm, C., Nowakowski, T. J., Kriegstein, A. R., & DeRisi, J. L. (2016). Zika virus cell tropism in the developing human brain and inhibition by azithromycin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(50), 14408–14413. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618029113
- Richner, J. M., Jagger, B. W., Shan, C., Fontes, C. R., Dowd, K. A., Cao, B., Himansu, S., Caine, E. A., Nunes, B., Medeiros, D., Muruato, A. E., Foreman, B. M., Luo, H., Wang, T., Barrett, A. D., Weaver, S. C., Vasconcelos, P., Rossi, S. L., Ciaramella, G., Mysorekar, I. U., ... Diamond, M. S. (2017). Vaccine Mediated Protection Against Zika Virus-Induced Congenital Disease. *Cell*, *170*(2), 273–283.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.06.040
- Sabchareon, A., Wallace, D., Sirivichayakul, C., Limkittikul, K., Chanthavanich, P., Suvannadabba, S., Jiwariyavej, V., Dulyachai, W., Pengsaa, K., Wartel, T. A., Moureau, A., Saville, M., Bouckenooghe, A., Viviani, S., Tornieporth, N. G., & Lang, J. (2012). Protective efficacy of the recombinant, live-attenuated, CYD tetravalent dengue vaccine in Thai schoolchildren: a randomised, controlled phase 2b trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 380(9853), 1559–1567. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61428-7
- Sanofi. (2017). 2017 Form 20F-2017. Retrieved from https://www.sanofi.com/-/media/Project/One-Sanofi-Web/Websites/Global/Sanofi-COM/Home/en/investors/docs/A-H/Annual_report_form_20F_2017.pdf?la=en&hash=A2BE10E2DD3BEDABC9C060E3 5824BBC1
- Sanofi. (2019). Form 20-F-2019. Retrieved from https://www.sanofi.com/-/media/Project/One-Sanofi-Web/Websites/Global/Sanofi-COM/Home/common/docs/investors/2020_03_23_Sanofi-Report-2019-20Faccessible.pdf?la=en&hash=14ACCB31D1FFFF966C8EA96CA7EE5049
- Satterfield-Nash A, Kotzky K, Allen J, et al. (2017). Health and Development at Age 19–24 Months of 19 Children Who Were Born with Microcephaly and Laboratory Evidence of Congenital Zika Virus Infection During the 2015 Zika Virus Outbreak — Brazil, 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017;66:1347–1351. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6649a2
- Scott, T. W., Amerasinghe, P. H., Morrison, A. C., Lorenz, L. H., Clark, G. G., Strickman, D., Kittayapong, P., & Edman, J. D. (2000). Longitudinal studies of Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) in Thailand and Puerto Rico: blood feeding frequency. *Journal of medical entomology*, 37(1), 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-37.1.89

- Simmons, C. P., Farrar, J. J., Nguyen, v. V., & Wills, B. (2012). Dengue. *The New England journal* of medicine, 366(15), 1423–1432. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1110265
- Simmons, M., Burgess, T., Lynch, J., & Putnak, R. (2010). Protection against dengue virus by non-replicating and live attenuated vaccines used together in a prime boost vaccination strategy. *Virology*, 396(2), 280–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2009.10.023
- Simon, F., Javelle, E., Cabie, A., Bouquillard, E., Troisgros, O., Gentile, G., Leparc-Goffart, I., Hoen, B., Gandjbakhch, F., Rene-Corail, P., Franco, J. M., Caumes, E., Combe, B., Poiraudeau, S., Gane-Troplent, F., Djossou, F., Schaerverbeke, T., Criquet-Hayot, A., Carrere, P., Malvy, D., ... Société de pathologie infectieuse de langue francaise (2015). French guidelines for the management of chikungunya (acute and persistent presentations). November 2014. *Medecine et maladies infectieuses*, 45(7), 243–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medmal.2015.05.007
- Sridhar, S., Luedtke, A., Langevin, E., Zhu, M., Bonaparte, M., Machabert, T., Savarino, S., Zambrano, B., Moureau, A., Khromava, A., Moodie, Z., Westling, T., Mascareñas, C., Frago, C., Cortés, M., Chansinghakul, D., Noriega, F., Bouckenooghe, A., Chen, J., Ng, S. P., ... DiazGranados, C. A. (2018). Effect of Dengue Serostatus on Dengue Vaccine Safety and Efficacy. *The New England journal of medicine*, 379(4), 327–340. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1800820
- Tebas, P., Roberts, C., Muthumani, K., Reuschel, E., Kudchodkar, S., Zaidi, F., et al. (2017). Safety and Immunogenicity of an Anit-Zika Virus DNA Vaccine- Preliminary Report. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1708120
- Tjaden, N., Thomas, S., Fischer, D., Beierkuhnlein, C. (2013). Extrinsic Incubation Period of Dengue: Knowledge, Backlog, and Applications of Temperature Dependence. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 7(6):e2207. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002207
- Tomashek, K. M., Lorenzi, O. D., Andújar-Pérez, D. A., Torres-Velásquez, B. C., Hunsperger, E. A., Munoz-Jordan, J. L., Perez-Padilla, J., Rivera, A., Gonzalez-Zeno, G. E., Sharp, T. M., Galloway, R. L., Glass Elrod, M., Mathis, D. L., Oberste, M. S., Nix, W. A., Henderson, E., McQuiston, J., Singleton, J., Kato, C., García Gubern, C., ... Alvarado, L. I. (2017). Clinical and epidemiologic characteristics of dengue and other etiologic agents among patients with acute febrile illness, Puerto Rico, 2012-2015. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, *11*(9), e0005859. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005859
- Vogt, M. B., Lahon, A., Arya, R. P., Kneubehl, A. R., Spencer Clinton, J. L., Paust, S., & Rico-Hesse, R. (2018). Mosquito saliva alone has profound effects on the human immune system. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 12(5), e0006439. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006439
- Waggoner, J. J., Gresh, L., Vargas, M. J., Ballesteros, G., Tellez, Y., Soda, K. J., Sahoo, M. K., Nuñez, A., Balmaseda, A., Harris, E., & Pinsky, B. A. (2016). Viremia and Clinical Presentation in Nicaraguan Patients Infected With Zika Virus, Chikungunya Virus, and

Dengue Virus. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America, 63(12), 1584–1590. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw589

- Weaver, S. C., Charlier, C., Vasilakis, N., & Lecuit, M. (2018). Zika, Chikungunya, and Other Emerging Vector-Borne Viral Diseases. *Annual review of medicine*, 69, 395–408. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-050715-105122
- Weaver, S. C., Costa, F., Garcia-Blanco, M. A., Ko, A. I., Ribeiro, G. S., Saade, G., Shi, P. Y., & Vasilakis, N. (2016). Zika virus: History, emergence, biology, and prospects for control. *Antiviral research*, 130, 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.03.010
- Webb, James L A. (2016). *Aedes aegypti* suppression in the Americas: historical perspectives. *The Lancet*, Volume 388, Issue 10044, 556 557.
- The World Health Organization (WHO). (2012). COMBI Toolkit. Communication for behavioral impact.
 [PDF
 file].
 Retrieved
 from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/75171/WHO_HSE_GCR_2012.14_eng.p

 df?sequence=1
 df?sequence=1
 df?sequence=1
 df?sequence=1
- WHO. Chikungunya: case definitions for acute, atypical and chronic cases. Conclusions of an expert consultation, Managua, Nicaragua, 20-21 May 2015. (2015). *Releve epidemiologique hebdomadaire*, 90(33), 410–414.
- WHO. (April 15, 2019a). Dengue and severe dengue key facts. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dengue-and-severe-dengue
- WHO. (April 21, 2017). Eliminate yellow fever epidemics (EYE): a global strategy, 2017–2026. Weekly Epidemiological Record 2017;16:193–204. [PDF file]. Retrieved from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/255703/WER9216-193-204.pdf
- WHO. (n.d. a). Fact sheet chikungunya. Retrieved June 27, 2019, from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chikungunya</u>
- WHO. (n.d. b). Integrated vector management (IVM). Retrieved July 19, 2019, from https://www.who.int/neglected diseases/vector ecology/ivm concept/en/
- WHO. (May 7, 2019b). Key facts yellow fever. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/yellow-fever</u>
- WHO. (March 27, 2019c). Malaria key facts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malaria</u>
- WHO. (February 16, 2018a). Microcephaly. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/microcephaly</u>

- WHO. (December 10, 2019d). Vaccine-Preventable Diseases: Monitoring System 2019 Global Summary-Yellow fever vaccine. Retrieved March 11, 2020, from http://apps.who.int/immunization_monitoring/globalsummary/timeseries/tscoverageyfv.h tml
- WHO. (July 20, 2018b). Zika Virus. Key Facts. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/zika-virus</u>
- WHO. (2019e). Dengue vaccine: WHO position paper, September 2018-Recommendations. *Vaccine* 37(35), 4848-4849. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.09.063.
- WHO. (2019f). WHO guidelines for the prevention of sexual transmission of Zika virus: executive
summary.[PDFfile]Retrievedfromhttps://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311026/WHO-RHR-19.4-eng.pdf
- WHO. (n.d. c). WHO Vaccine Pipeline Tracker. Retrieved June 10, 2020, from https://www.who.int/immunization/research/vaccine_pipeline_tracker_spreadsheet/en/
- Wise de Valdez, M. R., Nimmo, D., Betz, J., Gong, H. F., James, A. A., Alphey, L., & Black, W. C., 4th (2011). Genetic elimination of dengue vector mosquitoes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(12), 4772–4775.
- World Travel and Tourism Council. (2019). Caribbean 2019 annual research: Key highlights. [PDF file] Retrieved from <u>https://www.wttc.org/economic-impact/country-analysis/region-data</u>
- Yactayo, S., Staples, J. E., Millot, V., Cibrelus, L., & Ramon-Pardo, P. (2016). Epidemiology of Chikungunya in the Americas. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 214(suppl 5), S441– S445. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiw390
- Ye, Y. H., Carrasco, A. M., Frentiu, F. D., Chenoweth, S. F., Beebe, N. W., van den Hurk, A. F., Simmons, C. P., O'Neill, S. L., & McGraw, E. A. (2015). Wolbachia Reduces the Transmission Potential of Dengue-Infected Aedes aegypti. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 9(6), e0003894. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003894
- Yuki, N., & Hartung, H. P. (2012). Guillain-Barré syndrome. The New England journal of medicine, 366(24), 2294–2304. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1114525